

Walden University ScholarWorks

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

9-10-2024

Community College Students' Perceptions of Hybrid Class Elements That Affect Their Academic Achievement

Jennifer Lynn Horvath Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Education Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

Walden University

College of Education and Human Sciences

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Jennifer Lynn Horvath

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

Review Committee Dr. Kevin Johnson, Committee Chairperson, Education Faculty Dr. John Flohr, Committee Member, Education Faculty

> Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

> > Walden University 2024

Abstract

Community College Students' Perceptions of Hybrid Class Elements That Affect Their

Academic Achievement

by

Jennifer Lynn Horvath

Master of Philosophy, Walden University, 2020

MSED, Binghamton University, 2001

BA, Oneonta State, 1998

BS, Oneonta State, 1996

BS, Binghamton University, 1993

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment

of the Requirements for the Degree of

Doctor of Education

Walden University

November 2024

Abstract

Despite research and advances in hybrid learning in the field of education, the gap lies in the lack of research focusing on community college students' perceptions of which elements of hybrid classes significantly impact their academic achievement. This problem, often leading to lower completion rates and higher attrition, was particularly important to community colleges supporting rural populations. The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to determine community college students' perceptions of hybrid class elements that affected their academic achievement. Cognitive load theory served as the foundation for a conceptual framework, enabling the interpretation of student perceptions as manifestations of cognitive overload and its effect on performance. The research question that guided this study focused on community college students' perceptions of hybrid class elements that affected their academic achievement to better determine the lack of student academic performance in hybrid classes. Data collection consisted of eight individual semi-structured interviews with adult students at a Southeastern North Carolina community college. Criterion-based purposeful sampling was used to ensure the participants were (a) students enrolled at the study site community college, (b) currently or previously enrolled in a hybrid class, and (c) at least 18 years of age. Descriptive and values coding were used for data analysis. The results revealed recommendations about changes needed in hybrid classes. Based on their experiences, the participants perceived that community colleges need to prioritize improvements focusing on the technology used, teacher presence, and providing training for hybrid classes. The positive social change implication for this study is to enable course designers to create hybrid classes that are engaging and conducive to learning.

Community College Students' Perceptions of Hybrid Class Elements That Affect Their

Academic Achievement

by

Jennifer Lynn Horvath

Master of Philosophy, Walden University, 2020

MSED, Binghamton University, 2001

BA, Oneonta State, 1998

BS, Oneonta State, 1996

BS, Binghamton University, 1993

Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Education

Walden University

November 2024

Dedication

This dissertation is dedicated to the memory of my father, James Alexander Morlando. Thank you for teaching me the value of education and for teaching me to persist to reach my academic, professional, and life goals. I love you and I miss you every day.

Acknowledgments

I am eternally grateful to my Heavenly Father for giving me everything I needed to complete this doctoral journey. I would never have been successful without His support and encouragement. Thank you from the bottom of my heart.

I owe a debt of gratitude to Dr. Paulette Koss and Dr. Kevin Johnson, my dissertation committee chairs, for their support, their guidance, and their scholarly feedback. I deeply appreciate all that you have done to make the completion of this dissertation possible. You have demonstrated to me what it is to be a scholar.

I am also grateful to Dr. Flohr, second member of my dissertation committee. Thank you for your support, encouragement, and scholarly feedback. I would not have completed my doctoral journey without your expertise.

My family was an incredible source of encouragement and support throughout my doctoral journey, especially my mother, Mary Morlando. Thank you for always being there for me and for believing in me as I completed this dissertation.

List of Tables	iv
List of Figures	V
Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study	1
Background	5
Problem Statement	8
Purpose	11
Research Question	12
Conceptual Framework	12
Nature of the Study	17
Definitions	20
Assumptions	21
Scope and Delimitations	22
Limitations	24
Significance	25
Summary	27
Chapter 2: Literature Review	29
The Literature Search Strategy	30
The History and the Future of Hybrid Instruction	33
The History of Hybrid Instruction	34
Current Hybrid Instruction	35
Hybrid Education and the COVID-19 Pandemic of 2019	
Hybrid Instruction and the COVID-19 Pandemic	39

Table of Contents

Literature Review Related to Key Concepts and Variables	43
Conceptual Framework	48
Germane Cognitive Load	51
Intrinsic Cognitive Load	53
Extraneous Cognitive Load	54
Cognitive Load Effects	55
Previous Uses of Cognitive Load Theory	60
Improved Learning From a CLT Perspective	65
Summary	66
Chapter 3: Research Method	68
Research Design and Rationale	68
Role of the Researcher	70
Methodology	73
Participant Selection Logic	74
Instrumentation	76
Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection	78
Procedures for Recruitment	
Participation	79
Data Collection	79
Data Analysis Plan	80
Issues of Trustworthiness	83
Credibility	83
Transferability	

Dependability
Confirmability
Ethical Procedures
Summary
Chapter 4: Results
Setting
Data Collection
Data Analysis
Results
Evidence of Trustworthiness
Summary
Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations101
Interpretation of the Findings101
Elements of Hybrid Class that Hinder Students' Academic Achievement 101
Elements of the Hybrid Class That Help Students' Academic Achievement 105
Limitations of the Study108
Recommendations
Implications for Social Change110
Conclusion110
References111
Appendix A: Interview Protocol126

List of Tables

Table 1	Participant Interview Duration	89
Table 2	Enhanced: Attention and Opportunities in Hybrid Classroom	91
Table 3	Codes from Descriptive Coding Method	94
Table 4	Codes from Value Coding	94
Table 5	Codes Combining Values Coding and Descriptive Coding	95
Table 6	Coding From Interview Questions	97
Table 7	Codes Related to the Research Question	98

List of Figures

Figure 1	Performance Erosion Due to Cognitive Overload	15
Figure 2	Similarities and Regularities Among Data Collected (Initial Recognition)	92
Figure 3	Literature Related and Theory Related Analysis of the Data	96

Chapter 1: Introduction to the Study

Educational institutions offer three categories of distance learning classes: asynchronous, synchronous, and hybrid. Asynchronous distance learning is a forum for educational interactions between students and educators who are not together at the same time or place (Kayalar, 2021; Malinovski et al., 2014). Synchronous distance learning, however, is an educational modality where real-time interactions occur between the educator and the student. Synchronous learning, when compared to asynchronous learning, more closely resembles a face-to-face learning environment. Communication in the synchronous learning environment occurs online through audio/visual conferencing, instant messaging, and real-time collaboration applications. The live interactions that occur between the educator and the student and immediate feedback given support both traditional and innovative methods for effective teaching and learning (Malinovski et al., 2014). Hybrid learning is the blending of synchronous and asynchronous instructional modalities (Park et al., 2019). The focus of this study was on hybrid learning because, according to Park et al., 2019, hybrid course offerings increased tremendously in higher learning and will continue to do so in the future. Also, future research was needed to gather information to make hybrid classes a more effective and engaging learning environment (Park et al., 2019).

Hybrid courses were a large part of curriculum course offerings at community colleges prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, but there was a lower level of student academic performance in these courses when compared to courses that were offered in the face-to-face format. According to Park et al. (2019), there was a lower level of

student academic performance in hybrid courses because these courses were not well designed and there was a lack of teacher training. Student academic performance has improved in hybrid courses since the COVID-19 pandemic, but student academic performance is still lower when compared to face-to-face courses. The speed at which the shut-down occurred of educational institutions led to insufficient planning for hybrid courses (Serhan, 2020).

The topic of hybrid learning is vital to the field of education because many institutions offer courses using this instructional delivery format and will continue to do so in the foreseeable future (Turner & Turner, 2017). Many educational institutions, constrained by rising costs associated with additional payroll and adding new physical plant structures, have turned to synchronous technology-driven delivery mechanisms, such as hybrid learning, as an alternative (or in addition) to the face-to-face classroom model. By using hybrid learning, educational institutions can offer all courses required for students to complete their degree programs. Prior to using synchronous technology, including hybrid learning, some educational institutions were not able to offer required courses to their students if they were not able to find a qualified educator to teach the courses (Turner & Turner, 2017).

While the hybrid approach to engaging instruction can be very demanding, this approach is associated with an increase in the numbers in college curriculum programs and enrollment sustainability (Irani-Kermani et al., 2021). Still, the use of hybrid instruction is not without problematic issues. The key problematic issues include the technology, lack of teacher training, and lack of planning for the course on the part of the

educator (Irani-Kermani et al., 2021). In order to improve courses offered in the hybrid learning format and in order to address the problems of decreased student participation and the lack of student academic performance, it is imperative to understand the foundational relationships involved with using technology to mediate learning content delivered through the use of hybrid instruction (Clark et al., 2006). These key problematic issues may lead to a lack of student academic participation, which may lead to a low student retention rate (Thrasher et al., 2014).

The social change implications of better understanding the effective use of hybrid instruction are intertwined with those who rely upon hybrid instruction for formal learning. Baldassarri et al. (2015) determined the importance of hybrid instruction for students who live too far from a campus to economically drive there for classes multiple times a week, high school students who are dual enrolled (completing college courses for college credit while completing high school curriculum), and students who have family and work obligations creating obstacles to attending classes on campus more than once a week. Additionally, hybrid instruction can be used effectively to make courses available to parents with small children who are unable to attend classes on campus multiple days a week (Dada et al., 2019; Jansa & Ringsmuth, 2022).

Meeting the students where they are through hybrid instruction remains a viable instructional option. However, it is an option that comes with its own problem set. The lack of student academic performance in the hybrid classroom is an academic problem that community colleges face today (Dada et al., 2019; Jansa & Ringsmuth, 2022). According to Sarkar et al. (2020), 13% to 17% of students withdraw from their hybrid

courses. Out of the remaining students, 10–20% do not successfully complete the courses. Generally, there are many more learners who earn a letter grade of C (70-75%) in hybrid classes compared to a letter grade of A (90-100%) in face-to-face classes (Sarkar et al., 2020). This lack of student academic performance leads to higher course dropout rates and lower graduation rates (Dada et al., 2019; Yates et al., 2014). Both the good and the bad news is that lack of student academic performance in hybrid classes is not inherent in the concept of hybrid learning, the empirical evidence demonstrating a positive correlation between student participation and successful course completion (Bekkering & Ward, 2020). Therefore, just making hybrid classes available is not enough. It is urgent to make hybrid courses a more effective learning environment for students, thereby increasing lackluster student retention and graduation rates (Turner & Turner, 2017).

This chapter includes a discussion of the research background information, the problem statement, the purpose of the study, and the research question. It also includes a discussion of the conceptual framework, the nature of the study, and the significance of the study. The background section includes information on hybrid learning classes, a discussion on student participation, and the problem of the lack of student participation in the hybrid classroom. The conceptual framework section provides a discussion of the theoretical foundation based upon Sweller's (1988) cognitive load theory. The nature of the study section of this chapter provides the proposed design for the study, participant selection, and data collection method. The final sections of this chapter provide

definitions of terms used in the study, assumptions, limitations, and delimitations of the study.

Background

The use of internet-based hybrid learning in the field of education was first introduced to the field of education in early 2000's because technology was rapidly changing (Mohammadian et al., 2021). As technology advanced, online learning increasingly became a significant part of higher education to provide an accessible and flexible learning environment to students in all walks of life (Mohammadian et al., 2021). Hybrid learning is currently one of the most popular educational methods because it combines the traditional and online formats of learning and because of the ability of educational institutions to reach more students with more course offerings. Administrators began to realize that instruction through the hybrid format is very cost effective because there was no longer the need to hire and pay several educators to teach in the classroom since technology permitted instruction via the computer (Mohammadian et al., 2021).

As hybrid learning continues to progress, research pertaining to face-to-face synchronous distance education (SDE) continues to arise. In 2013, the National Center for Education Statistics (Updated National Survey of Student Engagement, 2013) reported that 51% of educational institutions were using face-to-face SDE. Despite its regular use and continued growth in the contemporary educational environment, hybrid courses are an amalgam of strengths and weaknesses that its human users must work with.

The strengths associated with the hybrid learning format relate to students having access to courses that they may not otherwise have access to. Students do not have to travel to a college or university campus several days a week to take the courses they need to complete their degree program. College administrators also see advantages to hybrid learning, including classroom availability, decreased overhead, and increased enrolment (Ozkan & Boccio, 2022). One challenge associated with the hybrid learning format is students need to be more independent and self-disciplined learners. This challenge created the need for educators to explore pedagogies and technologies that would help them in engaging students and improving their knowledge on the subject matter (Ozkan & Boccio, 2022). The technology that is used in the hybrid learning format can also create challenges for the educator and the student. For example, Dada et al. (2019) described a lack of student academic participation in a synchronous classroom forum due to students not knowing how to use the microphone in the classroom to participate. Synchronous technology can interfere with faculty-to-student interactions and, especially, with student-to-student interactions (Turner & Turner, 2017) creating the sense of an artificial learning environment. A significant drawback associated with synchronous technology is that it often does not serve hearing impaired students very well (Turner & Turner, 2017).

According to McCall et al. (2013), corroborated by Myers et al. (2015), the rate of student noncompletion of hybrid classes, applied specifically to students in the outlying classroom sites, is greater than student non-completion rates in traditional face-to-face courses. Although a lack of student academic performance and low student retention are

problematic in both asynchronous and synchronous online instructional environments (Dada et al., 2019; McLaughlin et al., 2013), hybrid courses, which are offered at many community colleges, have a particularly high dropout rate when compared to face-to-face courses. According to Bird et al. (2022), the change in instructional modality from face-to-face to virtual learning during the COVID 19 pandemic resulted in a 6.1% decrease in hybrid course completion when compared to the pre-COVID course completion rate for face-to-face instructional modality of 80.7%.

This high dropout rate for distance learning classes, especially as it relates to student academic performance, is a persistent and current problem for educational institutions (Jansa & Ringsmuth, 2022; Libby et al., 2017; Turner & Turner, 2017). Although hybrid courses have allowed colleges and universities to reach a wider student audience for several decades, little current research has been conducted to explore the perceptions of community college students as to the effectiveness of these distance courses on student academic performance (Jansa & Ringsmuth, 2022; Lovell-Johnston, 2019). Because hybrid classes will be a part of community college education for the foreseeable future (Jansa & Ringsmuth., 2022), exploring students' perceptions as to the effectiveness of these classes may assist educators and administrators with student retention and better student academic performance.

Previous researchers have expressed the need for additional research on hybrid courses to make the classes more effective. According to Yousry and Azab (2022), future work is needed to build on the results of their study, including more studies on different hybrid courses. Park et al. (2019) added that future research should examine what motivates students to put their efforts into activities within hybrid courses, or what strategies students use to succeed in hybrid courses. A qualitative approach to future research can be useful to explore students' decision and the rationale behind their decisions while they are completing a hybrid course (Park et al., 2019).

This study helped fill the gap in the knowledge related to student perceptions of the lack of student academic performance by striving to understand the experiences students have, specifically in hybrid courses. The findings of this study could be used by educators to help students reach their academic goals and the finds may also assist educators in designing future hybrid classes that present greater opportunities for learning, positively affecting student completion rates. With the growing reliance upon distance education at community colleges, specifically synchronous venues such as hybrid classes, addressing the lack of student academic performance in hybrid classes may lead to a better understanding of why students encounter greater disassociation from their hybrid courses and ultimately less performance success.

Problem Statement

The specific research problem addressed in this basic qualitative study was the gap in the research on community college students' perceptions of hybrid class elements that affect their academic achievement (Park et al., 2019). Despite the enrollment, financial, and access values. hybrid classes provide to community colleges (Crawford & Persaud, 2013; Dempsey et al., 2021; Weidlich & Bastiaens, 2018), a persistent weakness of the hybrid classroom environment is the lack of student achievement in academics in hybrid courses (Crawford & Persaud, 2013; Dempsey et al., 2021; Weidlich & Bastiaens, 2018), a persistent weakness of the hybrid classroom environment is the lack of student achievement in academics in hybrid courses (Crawford & Persaud, 2013; Dempsey et al., 2021; Weidlich & Bastiaens, 2021; Weid

2018). Addressing the problem of poor student achievement in academics, Clark et al. (2006) contended that a lack of student participation could be the observable manifestation of other issues, such as lack of attention, lack of motivation, and lack of opportunity to participate.

Hybrid classes in general, at community colleges especially, appear to have a higher dropout rate than similar face-to-face classes (Crawford & Persaud, 2013). Weidlich and Bastiaens (2018) found the most significant barrier to student completion of hybrid courses was the lack of student participation. A study conducted by Hussain et al. (2018) focused on student participation in web-based learning and found 58% of students failed to complete their courses, with the researchers attributing a significant part of the failure to the lack of student participation. In a similar study focused on the hybrid distance learning classroom, McLaughlin et al. (2013), and later Park et al. (2019), found a lack of student academic performance leading to the researchers' conclusion that students perceive academic participation in more engaging courses. In terms of hybrid classes, McLaughlin et al. (2013), supported by Crawford & Persaud, 2013; Dada et al., 2019; and Weidlich & Bastiaens, 2018, found that the dropout rate of hybrid classes is high due to a lack of student performance and participation.

The problem of the gap in the research on community college students' perceptions of hybrid class elements that affect their academic achievement (Park et al., 2019) is important, current, and relevant to the field of education. According to Dempsey et al. (2021), hybrid instructional modality is currently a sound option to deliver instruction to students and as students bring modern expectations of the use of technology into current hybrid classes, it is important for educators and administrators to ensure that student experiences in hybrid classes are improving. According to Marcus and Krupnick (2017, as cited in Chisum, 2020), 29% of rural students are enrolled in higher education programs. Nationally, among people over the age of 25, nearly half of the population complete postsecondary education. However, fewer than one in five rural students complete post-secondary programs. To reach more students in rural areas, institutions across the country have focused on ways to provide greater access to higher education to rural students. Greater access to higher education courses and programs for rural students has been, and currently is, achieved through hybrid learning (Marcus & Krupnick, 2017, as cited in Chisum, 2020). Hence, improving hybrid courses is imperative for the field of education and for the students served through the educational system.

Further research was needed to address the problem of the gap in the research on community college students' perceptions of hybrid class elements that affect their academic achievement (Libby et al., 2017; Myers et al., 2015; Park et al., 2019; Thrasher et al., 2014; Turner & Turner, 2017). The research that has been completed on the hybrid classroom has addressed the technology in the classroom (Libby et al., 2017), using synchronous learning in combination with asynchronous learning (Libby et al., 2017; Myers et al., 2015), and exploring what factors in student's lives affect their academic performance (Park et al., 2019) but a gap in the research existed on student achievement in academics and classroom participation as it relates to student perceptions when students are members of a hybrid class.

Purpose

The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to determine community college students' perceptions of hybrid class elements that affect their academic achievement. The setting for the study was hybrid classes at a southeastern U.S. community college. The focus of the study was on community college student perceptions acquired from completing or attending hybrid classes.

The phenomenon I addressed in this study was the lack of knowledge of community college students' perceptions of hybrid class elements that affect their academic achievement. Research has demonstrated a direct correlation between student academic participation and academic performance (e.g., Dada et al., 2019; Yates et al., 2014). Clark et al. (2006) surmised that successful academic performance cannot occur without academic participation, academic participation cannot occur without motivation, motivation cannot occur without opportunity, and opportunity cannot occur when there is too much disruption in the learning environment for the student to handle, especially a student who is new to the content. There are disruptions in the hybrid learning environment that may interfere with the student's opportunity to participate. For example, improper functioning technology, the non-intuitive need to use technology to communicate, poor bandwidth affecting delivery, and the presence of instructional tasks not conducive to remote learning. When a student does not perform to personal or course expectations during the learning process, he or she is at risk of losing interest in the content and perhaps failing or withdrawing from the course (Dada et al., 2019; Yates et al., 2014).

Research Question

To address the problem and the purpose of this study, the following research question was used: What are community college students' perceptions of hybrid class elements that affect their academic achievement?

Conceptual Framework

Park et al. (2019) defined hybrid learning as a blend of face-to-face (or synchronous) instruction and asynchronous instruction. The premise of hybrid learning established by the Park et al.'s definition is that a class meets face-to-face once a week for instruction and the remainder of the instructional time is offered in an asynchronous (online) format to make experiencing the course available to students who may not otherwise have the opportunity to complete the course of instruction. Using online technology, the instructor creates classroom activities for the online portion of the hybrid course that are conducive to learning the required content for the course (Park et al., 2019). While the Park et al.'s definition of hybrid learning describes the format of hybrid learning, it does not explain how the class format and the class activities translate into new learning for the students. Therefore, I used cognitive load theory to supplement Parker et al.'s definition.

As the theoretical foundation for this study, I used cognitive load theory, as interpreted and explained by Clark et al. (2006), as means to explore hybrid student academic performance as the culmination of the key supporting factors of attention to academic content and opportunity to participate. In practice, cognitive load theory was designed to be used in an educational setting to identify and reduce cognitive barriers negatively affecting the learner's mental effort during new learning experiences. Therefore, by exploring student attention and opportunity to participate as elements of the learning environment affected by cognitive load, I used cognitive load theory to better understand community college students' perceptions of hybrid class elements that affect their academic achievement.

Cognitive load theory is a complete set of instructional principles based on the idea that the human cognitive system is only able to process 7 ± 2 bits of information at one time (Miller, 1956, as cited in Clark et al., 2006, p.7). This premise refers to the influence of short-term and long-term memory on learning. If a learner is presented more than 5-9 items of information at once, the short-term memory becomes overwhelmed. The items of information that can overwhelm the short-term memory are not only limited to the number of facts or the complexity of the content material, but also include elements specific to the hybrid classroom, such as the learner having to use the microphone to communicate and the learner feeling intimidated by the technology (Chisum, 2020). Learning occurs when the learner applies previous learning germane to the new information being moved from the short-term memory into the long-term memory before the short-term memory becomes overwhelmed (Clark et al., 2006) by uncontrolled extraneous and unattended intrinsic characteristics of the educational environment. In short, if a student is experiencing too great a cognitive load, academic participation, academic performance, and academic success decrease. To accommodate the restraints of human short-term memory, cognitive load theory represents a set of heavily tested

universal learning principles that can lead to more efficient instructional environments by using human cognitive learning processes (Clark et al., 2006, p. 7).

To operationalize cognitive load theory for this study, the theory needs to be understood not as inputs but rather as characteristics of performance as they are experienced by the students in the hybrid class. Therefore, the three types of cognitive load – extraneous (extrinsic), intrinsic, and germane – are less relevant to this study as individual components affecting the design and delivery of the course and more relevant in terms of their collective influence on student performance experienced positively as cognitive load and negatively as cognitive overload. Chapter 2 presented a more detailed description and discussion of cognitive load theory. Operationalizing cognitive load theory from a student perspective focuses on their attention to the class and their perceptions of the opportunities available to participate in the learning activities of the class. Figure 1 illustrates performance erosion due to cognitive overload.

Figure 1

Performance Erosion Due to Cognitive Overload (Horvath, 2020)



Note. Figure of academic performance erosion due to cognitive overload.

As shown in this researcher created original Figure 1, successful academic performance has a better chance to occur when learners pay attention during class, are motivated to learn, and recognize each opportunity to participate (Poffenbarger, 2017). Attention, in the hybrid learning environment, refers to a student's ability to focus on the academic content of the lesson, actively taking notes, and interacting with other students (Pavelea & Moldovan, 2020). According to Pavelea and Moldovan (2020), attention, along with attendance and academic involvement, have a positive effect on student academic performance. Attention is crucial for learners to be able to pick out irrelevant information that will overload working memory and to place relevant information into working memory (Clark et al., 2006).

Opportunity refers to a student recognizing the chance to participate effectively in the learning environment such as working with classmates and engaging in meaningful discussions (Lloyd et al., 2016). According to Lloyd et al. (2016), when a student recognizes opportunities to participate in the lesson, work with classmates, and engage in meaningful discussions, a classroom community is built, which has a positive effect on student performance. To increase student performance, opportunities within the classroom community need to be recognized by the student to increase germane cognitive load without increasing their total cognitive load, that is, without becoming stuck in a cognitive overload situation (Clark et al., 2006). During new learning situations, germane cognitive load, the mental work created by instructional activities that aid the instructional goal, increases its relative proportion of total cognitive load enabling the learners to accommodate more effectively the newly acquired knowledge. Therefore, each student must recognize and seek out ways to connect the newly learned concepts to prior knowledge, so that schemata can be formed, to assist in moving the new information from short-term memory to long-term memory. Although the process of moving information from short-term memory to long-term memory increases germane cognitive load initially, as the student identifies and utilizes additional opportunities to practice applying the newly acquired knowledge, use of that knowledge eventually becomes more automated, reducing cognitive load and enabling additional learning (Clark et al., 2006).

Motivation occurs when the student feels driven to perform in the class (Poffenbarger, 2017). Intrinsic motivation (motivation that comes from within) and extrinsic motivation (behavior that is driven by external rewards such as praise) play a role in student academic performance (Buzdar et al., 2017). When students are of the mindset that they have the ability and the means to succeed in learning in the class and the ability to be successful in the class, they will be motivated to perform in the class (Clark et al., 2006). If a student feels motivated to learn and perform in the class, they will interact with the learning environment by engaging in activities (e.g., take notes, complete activities) that help move the new information out of short-term memory and into long-term memory (Xu et al., 2021).

As depicted in the original diagram of Figure 1, student academic performance in a hybrid class can be eroded as each component part of effective learning leading to successful performance is undermined by cognitive overload (Poffenbarger, 2017). I used cognitive load theory (Clark et al., 2006) to gain an understanding of the lack of student academic performance in the hybrid classroom by asking the participants questions that will lead to rich data about what aspects of the learning environment appear to lead to or enhance their attention and opportunity to participate. I also used cognitive load theory to gain an understanding of students' perceptions of the lack of student academic performance in the hybrid classroom by asking the participants questions that lead to rich data about what aspects of the hybrid learning environment appear to erode or detract from their attention and opportunity to participate.

Nature of the Study

To gain a working understanding of community college students' perceptions of hybrid class elements that affect their academic achievement, I used a qualitative approach based upon data of the human experience and a basic qualitative design because of its flexibility. My multitiered rationale for using qualitative research was to gain an understanding of how people make sense out of their lives, outline the process (rather than the outcome) of making meaning, and describe how people interpret their experiences (Merriam, 2015). The qualitative approach, as described by Merriam (2015), aligned with the problem statement and the purpose of this study because the best way to gain insight into an experience is to ask questions and speak directly to the individuals (the students in the hybrid class) about their understanding of the relationship between student academic performance as it is experienced through their attention, motivation, and opportunities to participate within the context of the hybrid learning environment.

The basic qualitative research design that I used differs from the other major qualitative approaches for conducting research, as it allowed me, as the researcher, to borrow tools from the other qualitative designs to use to frame, collect, and analyze data. For example, the basic qualitative design of this study had multiple participants, unlike a typical case study, which generally has only one or very few participants. And, while a phenomenological approach looks at a specific event and the insights of those who have experienced that event, this basic qualitative study looked at multiple elements of several specific events (Merriam, 2015). Still, elements of the phenomenological approach were relevant to this study as I was seeking to learn about the way elements of a learning environment appear to present themselves through unique individual human experiences (Vagle, 2014). An ethnographic approach often immerses the researcher as a subject for extended periods; in this basic qualitative approach, as the researcher, I was not immersed as a coparticipant of the research. However, the key ethnographic consideration of studying people in their own environment will be a crucial element of this study. The grounded theory approach tries to explain why a course of action

evolved the way it did, in other words, the design attempts to create or augment a theory (Thorne, 2016). I incorporated data analysis tools from the grounded theory approach into my study, however, instead of attempting to develop a theory, I used my findings to improve the knowledge of student learning in hybrid courses. The basic qualitative design is more pragmatic in nature, which allowed me to seek practical applications that emerge from the research study (Thorne, 2016).

The basic qualitative approach was the most appropriate for the problem and purpose of my study because this approach allowed me the flexibility to explore the perceptions of community college students regarding achievement in academics and classroom participation by collecting data in person. The problem and purpose of my study required understanding the context and environment the student experiences in the hybrid classroom. A basic qualitative study design is flexible, used to collect data to explore the challenges individuals deal with when attempting to accomplish their goals, and some of the richest data comes from observing and collecting data in person (Merriam, 2015). Hence, the basic qualitative design was appropriate to address the problem, purpose, and to answer the research question posed by my study. A more detailed description of these specific academic participation behaviors that will be documented during my study is presented in the discussion of concepts and variables in Chapter 2 and the research design and rationale section of Chapter 3.

The participants for this study were community college students, 18 years of age or older, who are currently or previously enrolled in hybrid classes at a southeastern North Carolina community college. The participants for data collection consisted of a sample of 8 students. I conducted semistructured interviews with the participants. For the interviews, I used researcher-created questions, which were strongly based upon cognitive theory literature and reviewed before the interviews by a neutral third party experienced in asking dissertation level interview questions. See Chapter 3 for complete methodological descriptions.

Definitions

The following terms were used throughout this basic qualitative research study:

Attention: Attention is the ability to choose and concentrate on relevant information. The cognitive process that makes it possible to place oneself (ex: through self-efficacy) towards relevant information and respond to it accordingly (Clark et al., 2006).

Cognitive load: The amount of information that working memory can hold at one time (Clark et al., 2006, p.13).

Cognitive overload: Cognitive overload occurs when working memory receives more information than it can process (Clark et al., 2006).

Hybrid learning: Hybrid learning is an educational method that combines oncampus (face-to-face) and synchronous online learning classroom hours (Yousry & Azab, 2022).

Motivation: Motivation is an internal and instinctual process that moves individuals to take actions that would allow them to achieve their desired goal (Poffenbarger, 2017).

Opportunity: Opportunity refers to students recognizing (by connecting the new

material to current knowledge and through self-efficacy) the chance to participate in the lesson, work with classmates, and engage in meaningful discussions (Lloyd et al., 2016).

Student academic performance: The degree to which a student has achieved his or her short or long-term academic goals (Swecker et al., 2013).

Student retention: Retention is defined as the continuous enrollment of students from one academic year to the following academic year (Swecker et al., 2013).

Assumptions

Several assumptions underpinned this study. The first assumption to consider is that the student participants were willing and able to answer questions open-mindedly and honestly to provide useful data or rich descriptions based on their experiences in the hybrid classroom. This assumption is important to the study because if participants did not answer the interview questions truthfully, the trustworthiness of the study could have been compromised (Maxwell, 2008).

A second assumption is that participants had critical insight and the ability to express their critical insight in a logical and descriptive manner into what enhanced or detracted from their attention, motivation, and opportunity to participate in the hybrid classroom. This assumption is important because I used student perceptions of their own behaviors to help me identify elements of cognitive load theory that influence learning in the hybrid classroom. While students did not know or need to know cognitive load theory, I assumed that they should know and were able to recall their own behaviors related to the presentation of the hybrid class. A third assumption was that student participation includes attending class and submitting required work to complete the course. Participation was not limited to answering questions in class and participating in class discussions. This assumption was important to my study because when discussing class participation with students, they may have considered attendance and completing course assignments as class participation.

These assumptions were important for this study to allow the focus to be on the data the student participants provided without the researcher focusing on potentially confounding variables that could have been part of the hybrid classroom environment. The focus of the data collected was exclusively on student perceptions of the hybrid class experience. The data collected were from the students on their experiences in the hybrid classroom that enhanced or detracted from their academic performance in the course.

Scope and Delimitations

The scope of this study focused on hybrid classes because these courses are currently the mainstay of synchronous learning and may continue as such well into the future. The scope of this study included first and second-year community college students who were currently or previously enrolled in one or more hybrid course. Because community colleges traditionally include only freshman and sophomore students, the study excluded any students who were juniors and seniors at the university level. No other types of distance or online learning classes were used in this study; only courses specifically identified in the college course catalog as hybrid classes were studied. Additionally, for this study, data collection was limited to hybrid classes at one community college in southeastern North Carolina. The study was limited to hybrid classes because the dropout rate in hybrid classes was higher than the dropout rate in face-to-face classes (Kayalar, 2021).

This study was not delimited to a specific subject area or specific instructor. The participants of the study were students in hybrid classes taught by a variety of instructors from a variety of disciplines. To preclude the content matter of the course and the instructor as potentially influencing a lack of student performance in the hybrid class, the scope of the study included participants from various disciplines who had different instructors.

A research study similar to this one was conducted and reported in the literature, but it differs from the current one in substantial ways (Chakraborty & Nafukho, 2014). Chakraborty and Nafukho (2014) completed a study to address the problem of student engagement in the online classroom. The study used the theory of motivation and learning as a guide, which was interpreted by using the behaviorist, cognitivist, and constructivist schools of thought. Their theoretical framework was not used for this study because their theoretical framework was used to understand students' engagement strategies that work, not student experiences that enhance student academic performance influenced by manifestations of cognitive load.

This study has potential transferability to other educational institutions and the hybrid courses they offer. The results of the study can inform course designers and educators as to what they need to do in future hybrid courses to increase student attention, student motivation, and opportunities for student participation. The results of this study also provide information to course designers and educators so that cognitive overload can be decreased in future hybrid classes.

Limitations

Potential participant attrition was one limitation of this study. There may have been students who dropped out of hybrid courses before my research who could have been potential participants for my study. Therefore, due to college privacy laws, I did not have access to those students who dropped out of the courses earlier in the semester. I prepared for possible participant attrition by creating a larger sample population to assure access to sufficient student participants. I discuss the possibility of a small sample size in more detail in the Trustworthiness section of Chapter 3.

The student participants were not trained in cognitive load theory nor is it likely they knew what it is or how it works. As a result, they may not have responded directly to my data needs as shown in Figure 1. I addressed this potential limitation to my study by creating an interview protocol that will create enough student reflection and recall acquiring the type of data I was seeking.

There may have been researcher bias that could have influenced the outcome of the study. My constructivist worldview could have had an influence on my study in that I believe that the academic environment of the classroom can have a profound effect on how each individual student is enabled and makes meaning through the learning process. I have been teaching hybrid learning classes for several years. Though this experience was used to enhance the evaluation, I was also aware that as a result, I could have had preconceived notions about student engagement and technology in the hybrid
classroom. To control any personal biases that I may have had that could have influenced the outcome if my study, I maintained a journal of what I planned to do and I wrote reflections on any decisions I made. This will be described in more detail under The Role of the Researcher in Chapter 3.

Another limitation to this study was geographic limitation. This study was conducted at one community college in North Carolina. Therefore, the results may not be generalizable to community college hybrid classes at other community colleges or in other states.

Significance

The significance of this basic qualitative study was to determine community college students' perceptions of hybrid class elements that affected their academic achievement. The stakeholders in the educational community benefited from the results of this study were the students, administrators, educators, and student affairs professionals. This study provides community college leaders, administrators, and student affairs professionals with data that may enable them to design courses that are more effective in meeting student needs. This study may bring about social change by enabling community college course designers to create more effective community college classes, thereby increasing student achievement.

There is a need for community college leaders, administrators, and student affairs professionals to focus on the student populations they serve. There is also a need to focus on the instructional or institutional factors that contribute to or hinder student academic performance. Now that the factors that contribute to the lack of student academic performance in hybrid classes have been identified, college administrators and course designers can begin to examine ways to develop practices that encourage student academic participation, academic performance, and re-enrollment until each student's educational goal of graduation is achieved (Watts, 2016).

Hybrid learning will continue to be a part of higher learning into the future (Park, et al., 2019). Although hybrid courses have allowed colleges and universities to reach a wider audience for several decades, little current research has been conducted to explore the effectiveness of these courses on student academic performance as experienced by individual community college students (Park et al., 2019). By understanding the firsthand experiences of students in hybrid classes who believe they are being challenged by a lack of student performance in their respective hybrid learning environments, this study helped fill the gap in the current research on hybrid learning.

With the growing reliance upon distance education at community colleges, including hybrid classes, plus the disconcerting higher course dropout rates of students taking hybrid courses, addressing the lack of student academic performance in hybrid classes may lead to a better understanding of why students in hybrid classes encounter greater disassociation from their courses. Uncovering the means to increase student academic performance in hybrid courses can lead to an increase in student retention in these courses. An increase in student retention may lead to higher student graduation rates.

There are several potential implications for positive social change that are consistent with and bounded by the scope of this study. Through this research study and similar studies that may arise, there will be a better understanding as to how students make meaning out of the hybrid learning environment, how students interact with one another in the hybrid learning environment, and what aspects of the technology used in the hybrid learning environment may lead to better student academic performance. The data collected can be used to create a more engaging hybrid classroom environment by changing the specific elements in the classroom that hinder student academic performance.

Summary

In Chapter 1, I introduced the central aspects of student academic performance, synchronous and asynchronous learning environments, and the hybrid learning classroom. I have also sketched the study's background, problem statement, theoretical foundation, and conceptual framework. Finally, I laid out the definitions pertinent to the topic, the research question, and the significance of the study.

In the background section of this chapter, I discussed the use of technology for instructional delivery in the distance learning classroom, the hybrid classroom, the advantages and disadvantages of this type of learning environment, and the dropout rate associated with hybrid courses. In the problem statement section of the chapter, I discussed why the lack of student academic performance in hybrid courses is a problem. In the purpose section of the chapter, I discussed the purpose of this study, which is to better understand student perceptions of the lack of student academic performance in hybrid courses. In the conceptual framework section of this study, I discussed cognitive load theory. In the nature of the study section, I discussed how I would apply the cognitive load theory to my study, and I discussed the methodology I will use to complete the study, semistructured interviews.

The focus in Chapter 2 now shifts to a review of the literature on the concepts of student academic participation, synchronous and asynchronous learning environments, and the hybrid learning classroom. This literature review culminates in a discussion of cognitive load theory (Clark et al., 2006), the theoretical foundation and conceptual framework for the study. In particular, the chapter includes reference to past methodologies on the study of student participation and their limitations and methodological considerations for the study.

Chapter 2: Literature Review

In this literature review, I examine student academic performance in the hybrid learning classroom. The specific research problem addressed in this basic qualitative study is the gap in the research on community college students' perceptions of hybrid class elements that affect their academic achievement (Park et al., 2019), which is a problem that needs to be addressed at the educational institution level as well as within the student population (Watts, 2016). The literature has demonstrated that there is a lack of student academic performance in hybrid courses, which leads to a high student dropout rate in many courses delivered through the hybrid modality. Park et al. (2019) found that hybrid courses are not equivalently interactive to face-to-face courses. Park et al. also found the noncompletion rate hybrid classes is greater than the noncompletion rate in traditional courses (as cited in Bekkering & Ward, 2020; Quweider et al., 2019). Notably, Bekkering and Ward (2020) and Clark et al. (2006) contended that a lack of student participation could be the observable manifestation of other issues, such as lack of attention and lack of opportunity to participate. The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to determine community college students' perceptions of hybrid class elements that affect their academic achievement.

The main content sections of Chapter 2 are the Literature Review Related to Key Variables and Concepts and the Conceptual Framework sections. In the Literature Review Related to Key Variables and Concepts, I build a trajectory of current research leading to and supporting the importance of the current study. In the Conceptual Framework section, I will examine and explain the phenomenon to be studied and the theoretical foundation for that framework and related research. The chapter closes with a summary of the chapter and a transition into Chapter 3.

The Literature Search Strategy

To identify the studies to be included in this review, I conducted an organized search using multiple libraries and search engines. The resources I used include scholarly peer-reviewed articles and books from Walden University's online library and local libraries in my North Carolina community. I also used Google Scholar®, as well as ERIC, ProQuest Central®, Academic Search Complete, and Education Research Complete.

Additionally, I completed a systematic search for materials related to concepts and research associated with student academic performance in distance learning, specifically focusing on the hybrid learning classroom and information on student completion rates in distance learning classrooms. The focus of the majority of the articles found was distance learning, online learning, hybrid classes, and student academic performance. Out of all of the literature that I reviewed, the articles that focused on synchronous learning, student academic performance, and the hybrid classroom became the foundation of the literature that I used to inform and support my study. The best source of data was ProQuest Central.

I also reviewed books and articles on completing a basic qualitative research study to gain knowledge on how to complete my study and to complete this extensive and comprehensive literature review. The search terms I used in Google Scholar®, as well as ERIC, ProQuest® Central, Academic Search Complete, and Education Research Complete to complete this literature review included *student academic participation*, student academic performance, distance learning, motivation, opportunity, attention, technology, hybrid classroom, technology used in hybrid classrooms, and student completion rates in synchronous learning classrooms. These search terms provided the basis to advance the literature review on hybrid classes, student academic performance, and student completion rates in hybrid classes. The search term that worked the best when accessing scholarly and peer-reviewed articles on my topic in ProQuest® Central was student academic performance. I also developed synonyms and phrases for each topic including their singular, plural, and abbreviated forms, and then combined them using the Boolean operator AND. A limitation of this search was that only studies in the above-mentioned databases were identified. To account for the possibility of exclusion of relevant articles outside of these databases, I searched Google Scholar® and used citation chaining. Citation chaining means searching backwards and forwards in time for materials that are cited by and that cite an article or resource I already had. As the name implies, one resource links to another, which links to another, and so on to create a chain of relevant literature titles.

I targeted research articles from peer-reviewed journals during my search, and I excluded non-researched articles and dissertations. I excluded non-researched articles and dissertations from my search because the focus of my search was scholarly sources, including primary works. I also excluded articles published in languages other than English. To obtain the latest research on the topics I reviewed for use, I made every effort to locate resources that were published within the last 5 years. Therefore, while I set no

specific time range for my inclusion criteria, the latest publication dates identified and used for the review were from 2019. The literature that I included in this review that are dated prior to 2019 tend to be seminal works and literature that have specific relevance to my study.

The literature has demonstrated that there is a lack of student academic performance in hybrid course, which leads to a high student drop-out rate in many courses delivered through the hybrid modality. Irani-Kermani et al. (2021) found that hybrid courses are not equivalently interactive to face-to-face courses because student academic participation in the hybrid classroom, which is directly related to student academic performance, cannot be monitored as closely as it can be in face-to-face classroom settings. Also, depending on course design and timeframe, instructors cannot be as responsive to student questions in the hybrid classroom as they can be in a face-to face classroom setting (Bekkering & Ward, 2020; Quweider et al., 2019). Educators need to present students with opportunities to participate in the internet-based hybrid classroom and students need to take advantage of each opportunity to participate in order to make the classroom more interactive. As a result, student academic performance will increase and the student drop-out rate will decrease (Bekkering & Ward, 2020; Quweider et al., 2019).

Students are less engaged with their courses and their college when they take hybrid courses instead of face-to-face courses (Bekkering & Ward, 2020; Quweider et al., 2019). The results from a recent evaluation, the National Survey of Student Engagement (2021) revealed that distance learners, including those taking hybrid classes, when compared to their on-campus counterparts, were not as involved in active and collaborative learning, worked with less frequency with other learners on class projects, and worked with less frequency with other learners to complete class projects or to prepare for class assessments (Fredrickson, 2015). When students and educators employ strategies to reduce cognitive load in the learning environment (which in turn will increase student attention, student motivation, and opportunities to participate), students will become more engaged and the result will be higher academic performance (Bekkering & Ward, 2020; Quweider et al., 2019).

The History and the Future of Hybrid Instruction

Prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, hybrid learning was used in community college institutions to reach students who were not able to attend classes on campus. Student academic performance in hybrid classes was lower than student academic performance in face-to-face classes, which demonstrates that the hybrid learning environment was not as conducive to learning and as efficient as the face-to-face classroom (Szeto, 2014). During the COVID-19 pandemic, community colleges turned to offering a greater number of hybrid classes due to the shut-down of in-person learning. Although hybrid learning has improved through greater use, student academic performance in hybrid classes continues to be lower than student academic performance in face-to-face classes (Park et al., 2019).

The use of hybrid learning enables instruction to be delivered to students who may not otherwise be able to achieve their educational goals of course and program completion. Looking at the history of hybrid instruction, current hybrid instruction, and the future of hybrid instruction is key to gaining an understanding of this learning environment. Understanding the hybrid learning environment may lead to a more efficient classroom in the future (Park et al., 2019).

The History of Hybrid Instruction

Understanding the history of hybrid classes helps one understand why the classroom format has been and will continue to be an integral part of distance education in the future. Blended learning began in a very primitive form in the 1840s with educators and students corresponding through mail (Singh et al., 2021). As technology advanced, hybrid classes changed, and students gained the capability to submit course work online. According to Singh et al. (2021), the 1970s and the 1980s saw advances in technology that enabled educators to offer hybrid courses from several locations and students were able to submit course work online.

Advances in technology have allowed hybrid courses to be offered at higher learning institutions. According to Gagnon et al. (2020), blended and hybrid instructional modalities have been widely implemented in higher education learning since the early 2000s. Gagnon et al. (2020) pointed out that a 2008 report found that 35% of all 2- and 4year degree higher education institutions offered hybrid courses, and nearly two-thirds of two-year higher education institutions, including institutions with more than 10,000 students, offered hybrid courses (Gagnon et al., 2020). As enrollment in higher education institutions has declined, enrollment in distance learning courses, particularly hybrid classes, has increased. To demonstrate this trend, during the fall semester of 2016, 31.5% of the students who were enrolled in higher education institutions were taking at least one distance education course, which is a 5.6% increase from the 25.9% enrollment in 2012. In 2016, there were over 5 million undergraduate students and 1 million graduate students who reported taking distance education courses (Gagnon et al., 2020). Student enrollment statistics in hybrid classes in 2018 indicated that online classes are prevalent in higher education. According to Wang et al. (2022), 34.5% of all undergraduate students took at least one distance education class and 14% of all undergraduate students were enrolled in higher education degree programs that were entirely online.

Current Hybrid Instruction

The use and evolution of hybrid courses in the current educational environment is being driven by student demand for this leaning modality. According to Irani-Kermani et al. (2021), students experienced hybrid learning during the COVID 19 pandemic, and many students decided to continue to learn through this modality once face-to-face learning commenced. Some reasons students decided to continue to learn through hybrid classes are convenience, transportation issues, along with family and work obligations (Irani-Kermani et al., 2021). As a result, student retention in distance learning courses is of interest to researchers because of the cost incurred by the educational institution along with the cost to the students who enroll in distance learning courses. Though the most recent figures available suggest that student enrollment in distance learning classes has increased by 62% from 2016-2020, the dropout rate from distance learning classes is extremely high, 45%-85 (Irani-Kermani et al., 2021). Increased enrollment in distance education courses leads to increasing concerns about the outcomes for the students. Course completion is an important measure of student outcomes and the success of a distance learning program. From the institution of higher learning perspective,

universities and colleges are now required to demonstrate that they are retaining students and that students are completing their academic goals for them to receive necessary funding for continued operation. From the student point of view, dropping out of a course can impede progress towards degree completion, create a financial loss, and the student may experience psychological distress related to the decision to withdraw (Mohammadian et al., 2021).

The primary objective of using hybrid courses has been to give students access to courses that they may not otherwise have access to. Hybrid course offerings may help with student retention because students have more options, and greater access to, the classes they need to complete their degree programs. When students have access to all the classes they need to persist and successfully complete their degree programs, they are more likely to stay at the education institution and complete their plan of study (Szeto, 2014).

The use of hybrid learning in educational institutions has become increasingly driven by cost factors and learning flexibility this modality provides following the COVID-19 pandemic. The application of videoconferencing for the asynchronous portion of hybrid courses has become primarily used to distribute live or pre-recorded lectures to students rather than enrichment of the educational experience (Szeto, 2014). To enhance cost-effectiveness, videoconferencing is often used as a tool for hybrid teaching. The students may also receive instruction from the educator through videoconferencing technology. While hybrid courses have allowed colleges and universities to reach a wider audience for decades, little current research explores the effectiveness of these courses on student engagement as experienced by community college students (Gagnon et al., 2020; Park et al., 2019).

As technological capabilities have increased (such as faster internet connections, wireless microphones, and document cameras), hybrid courses have evolved to the current state that allows synchronous and asynchronous interactions of multiple types (Gagnon et al., 2020). There have been vast improvements in the technology used to deliver hybrid classes. However, hybrid instruction remains a product of strengths and weaknesses.

The strengths of hybrid learning are related to accessibility, real-time communication, and real-time activities (Thrasher et al., 2014). According to Thrasher et al. (2014), the strengths of hybrid learning courses include the following: Students can take courses that they may not otherwise have access to, which helps them reach their academic goal of degree completion. Students can communicate in real time with the educator and classmates while class is in session during the face-to-face portion of the class.

The weaknesses of hybrid learning are largely focused on technology and teacher training (Mohammadian et al., 2021; Thrasher et al., 2014). According to Thrasher et al. (2014), the weaknesses of the technology used in the hybrid classroom include the following: There may be audio issues with the technology (internet connection or internet speed), issues with the microphones (if the course is offered in a synchronous format); technical difficulties occur, especially in rural areas due to poor internet connection. According to Thrasher et al. (2014), the weaknesses of teacher training in the hybrid

classroom include the following: the educator teaching the hybrid course may not have adequate training in hybrid instruction and there is often a lack of student engagement in hybrid courses.

There are barriers to student academic performance that are associated with hybrid learning. Improvements can be made to the hybrid classroom when barriers to student academic success are identified and removed. Community college students, for example, frequently do not participate in extracurricular activities offered on campus, often do not take advantage of campus student services, have varying backgrounds of academic preparation, and face many competing life and school obligations (Teranishi et al., 2011, as cited in Alicea et al., 2016). According to Van Rhijn et al. (2016), distance learning students struggle to access needed resources to complete coursework, have limited access to support services, and may not have flexible study options, such as working with faculty members and classmates (Suarez-Orozoco et al., 2016; Van Rhijn et al., 2016).

Hybrid Education and the COVID-19 Pandemic of 2019

In 2019, a new airborne illness called COVID-19 quickly spread across the globe, creating a worldwide pandemic. Throughout the United States and throughout the world, there was a lockdown, which preempted and in person gatherings, including university classes. This pandemic and resulting lockdowns caused educations of higher learning to scramble to quickly make in person classes remote classes.

The COVID-19 pandemic of 2019 lockdown occurred on March 20, 2020. Educators and students had to adjust to online course educational format almost overnight. Hybrid learning continued through the use of technological forums, such as ZOOM and Blackboard Collaborate. The use of technology enabled students and educators to continue to meet as a class in leu of face-to-face meetings (Serhan, 2020).

Although technology enabled hybrid courses to continue, there was not enough preparation time when the COVID-19 lockdown occurred for educators and students to prepare for this shift in educational methodology. Educators did not have sufficient time to design quality hybrid courses when the classes suddenly shifted to ZOOM or Blackboard Collaborate. Students did not have sufficient time to adjust to using the technology, which created frustrations in the learning process and hindered student academic performance (Park et al., 2019).

The COVID-19 pandemic shutdown of in person learning in 2020 had a positive impact on student academic performance in hybrid classes. According to Serhan (2020), student academic performance in hybrid classes has improved since in person learning resumed and hybrid classes are now more conducive to learning. However, student academic performance in hybrid classes continues to be lower than student academic performance in face-to-face classes, which calls for more research on hybrid learning (Serhan, 2020).

Hybrid Instruction and the COVID-19 Pandemic

During the COVID-19 pandemic, even though in person instruction stopped, hybrid learning still occurred by technology. The courses were still considered hybrid because a portion of the instruction occurred online. The face-to-face portion of the hybrid course occurred through ZOOM or Blackboard Collaborate meetings and the remainder of the instruction occurred through asynchronous (completely online) learning (Park et al., 2019). Since the lockdown was lifted, in person learning has resumed and hybrid classes now meet in a face-to-face format, along with a portion of the instruction occurring online.

Hybrid learning has a very important role in the future of higher education. The COVID-19 pandemic has demonstrated that distance learning plays a bigger role in how instruction is delivered to learners now more than ever. As technology has advanced, educational institutions have shifted focus from second-generation technologies, such as instructional television, to third-generation platforms, such as face-to-face interactive online learning (Chisum, 2020). There remains a current and future need for hybrid courses in educational institutions. The recent COVID-19 pandemic made ZOOM technology a household word as ZOOM internet technology provided individual students with access to course materials presented from a single point of delivery. Even though some academic leaders question the quality of distance learning, they are in general agreement that hybrid courses are more promising for the future than fully online (asynchronous) courses, and the majority believe the outcomes of hybrid courses are the same or may exceed face-to-face instructional modality. The 2016 NMC Horizon report identified hybrid learning as one of the six biggest trends driving the adoption of technology and higher education decision-making. Advances in internet technology, such as improved internet connection speeds, allow for creating, sharing, and streaming video and have accelerated the use of hybrid learning. The flexibility, increased access, and

future innovations have led many educators and administrators to refer to hybrid learning as the new normal (Gagnon et al., 2020).

Virtual hybrid environments, such as ZOOM meetings, will play a big role in educational delivery well into the future (Serhan, 2020) As technology changed to fit the needs of learners and educators during the COVID-19 pandemic, the use of ZOOM meetings as an alternative venue to face-to-face class meeting has become very popular. The use of ZOOM meetings also created a new venue for hybrid students, as they can now attend class from a personal computer at home or on campus anywhere a computer is available (Serhan, 2020). This new technology has new features that resemble a classroom, which made the transition to synchronous classes easier during the COVID-19 pandemic. According to Brainard and Watson (2020), educators and students found features in ZOOM, such a whiteboard, chat capabilities, screenshare capabilities, and a hand raise button very conducive to conducting synchronous classes. There are also drawbacks to using ZOOM as an alternative classroom. Although students and educators expressed that they would like to have more technology implemented into the classroom, the technology used in ZOOM to create a virtual classroom can become a distraction (Brainard & Watson, 2020). Also, there are students who do not have internet access at all and there are rural areas not serviced by broadband. Internet technology is (and will be in the foreseeable future) the primary means of academic access for many students who live in rural areas (Chisum, 2020).

The evolution of hybrid classes, as demonstrated during the recent pandemic, has pointed out that there is a need for more teacher training for future hybrid courses (Serhan, 2020). In addition to skill development related to evolving technology, another area of focus for teacher training for future hybrid courses will be on how to make hybrid courses more interactive. According to Chisum (2020), most hybrid instruction is delivered in lecture format. Most educators find it easier to deliver instruction through lecture because of the limitations of the technology in the synchronous hybrid classroom (Chisum, 2020).

There is also a need for student training for future hybrid synchronous learning classes. According to Chisum (2020), some students feel overwhelmed by the technology used in the classroom. The educational institution could offer training workshops for the students to teach them how to use the technology. Another option is to have training offered to the students during the first week of class. When students are comfortable with technology, they will be more interactive, more engaged, more motivated, more attentive, and they will take advantage of opportunities to participate (Chisum, 2020).

The future of hybrid instruction is full of possibilities and the virtual classroom will be used well into the future in the field of education (Snow & Coker, 2020). According to Snow and Coker (2020), the use of simulation and gaming technologies have been explored for potential use in the hybrid classroom. The viewpoints of educators and students regarding the effectiveness of hybrid courses as a medium of instructional delivery were measured, and the findings suggested that future technological advancements will be advantageous to student learning, engagement, and overall development of skills (Snow & Coker, 2020).

Literature Review Related to Key Concepts and Variables

While there has been a substantial amount of research related to student engagement, little of it has been conducted from the student perspective. As a result, little is known about the way students perceive engagement, attention, motivation, and participation in the hybrid learning environment (Chisum, 2020). The goal of my study is to gain insights into student perceptions on the lack of student academic performance in the hybrid classroom, which is directly related to the lack of student engagement, manifested as student attention, motivation, and opportunities to participate.

Despite increased enrollment in distance learning classes, the non-completion rate in the distance learning classroom is extremely high. According to Hussain et al. (2018), the noncompletion rate in distance learning classes is 40% to 80%, which is 10% to 20% higher than face-to-face classes (Park et al., 2019). There is a direct correlation between the lack of student engagement, student academic performance in academic courses and student dropout rate (Korobova & Starobin, 2015). Hybrid courses are among the distance learning courses with the lowest student academic performance, which may lead to the high non-completion rate seen in these courses (Hussain et al., 2018). Therefore, examining the lack of student engagement and student performance as they relate to the high noncompletion rates in hybrid courses seems imperative.

According to Korobova and Starobin (2015), the best predictors of whether a student will graduate are academic participation, student motivation, and student attention, often grouped together and referred to as student engagement. An important piece to reducing the student dropout rate in virtual learning environments is to

understand how to engage students in activities that are meaningful to them. If a student perceives academic activities as meaningful to them, their participation in class activities increases, their experiences become more engaging, and the probability of high assessments grades and course completing increases (Hussain et al., 2018). On the other hand, when students are not engaged in the class activities, they are less likely to pay attention to the new content presented by the instructor, they are less motivated to learn, and the students will be less likely to take advantage of opportunities to participate in classroom activities (Lina et al., 2020).

Astin (1985) and Collaçe (2017) found that student engagement is a difficult term to define. Attempting to accommodate what Korobova and Starobin (2015) called academic meaningfulness, definitions of student engagement have included both behavioral and affective components (Collaçe, 2017). Astin and Collaçe characterized student academic engagement as the learners being actively involved in the learning process by asking questions or working collaboratively with classmates. However, they pointed out that there is more, such as an interpersonal component. For example, an interpersonal component to student engagement might be a student working outside of class with classmates to prepare for an assessment or a teacher mentoring a student who is completing a project (Lina et al., 2020). An example of a behavioral component to student engagement from a student's perspective may be, "I want to be active, participate, do what it takes, and take responsibility for my learning." An example of an affective component to student engagement from a student's perspective may be, "I feel at home, I know people and people know me, and I feel safe and included." While it is helpful to have a reasonable working definition for student engagement, it is also useful to understand that engagement exists as a continuum comprised of multiple levels of engagement. As a result, students and educators may have different perceptions of what it means to be engaged in a course. The student may perceive that they are engaged in the course at the right level, but the educator may not agree. By bringing together the concept of an engagement continuum with a useful working definition of engagement, it becomes possible to expect that student engagement is higher in a course that is interactive enough to maintain student attention, and when the new material is presented in different modalities to reach all types of learners enabling them to participate (Collaçe, 2017).

According to Anderson (2016) and Price and Tovar (2014), the lack of student academic performance in distance learning courses, including hybrid courses, continues to be a problem many educational institutions encounter when students become overwhelmed and frustrated resulting in a lack of student attention, student motivation, and student participation. Student attention can be described as students actively interested as new material is presented in the classroom, taking notes as the new material is presented by the instructor, marking their texts, writing response papers, and being prepared for class with all necessary materials (Lina et al., 2020). Student attention is related to successful engagement because a student paying attention to the new material, actively interested, and prepared for class, is more likely to actively participate in classroom activities (Lina et al., 2020).

It is essential to recognize the signs of a lack of student attention in the classroom in order to assist students and to make the classroom environment more effective. A lack of student attention can be described as the learners sleeping in class, the learners are engaged in disruptive or disorderly chatting, chronic tardiness, and when students are habitually silent during class discussions. A lack of student attention may lead to a lack of student performance, which may lead to unsuccessful completion of the course (Garrett, 2011).

Student motivation can be described as a willingness or a desire to learn, along with the belief that course completion is an attainable goal (Lina et al., 2020). A student motivated to learn (intrinsically or extrinsically) is more likely to be engaged in classroom activities (Price & Tovar, 2014). In order to identify motivation in students, it is essential to recognize identifiable characteristics of a motivated student. Student motivation can be identified through participation (asking or answering questions), autonomy (working or researching independently), self-confidence (feel more powerful), curiosity, competitiveness, recognition (seek recognition for achievements), membership (boast about their work), engaging in debate, asking any questions and investigating the problems in class that were discovered through independent reading, writing reflection papers, making relevant connections with additional texts and writers, examining deeply a text or research problem, and marking their texts (Lina et al., 2020).

It is important for educators to recognize a lack of student motivation in the classroom so they will be able to assist students and create a classroom environment that will increase student motivation. A lack of student motivation can be described as a student reading material not relevant to the course, chronic student tardiness, a student being habitually silent during class discussions, and a student not submitting assignments.

A lack of student motivation may lead to a lack of student performance, which may lead to unsuccessful completion of the course (Garrett, 2011).

To facilitate learning for students and to make the classroom more interactive, educators need to provide opportunities for students to participate. An interactive classroom, where students have opportunities to actively participate, work together, and apply the new learning material, brings about a sense of belonging for the students while they are actively engaged in the learning process (Lloyd et al., 2016). According to Lloyd et al. (2016), when students find success in a course through attention and motivation, they gain self-confidence and a desire to get involved in their own learning. Once students have a desire to get involved in the classroom and get involved in their own learning, they are more likely to create and take advantage of opportunities to participate (Lloyd et al., 2016). A student taking advantage of opportunities to participate is in all likelihood to be engaged in learning activities and in the lesson (Lina et al., 2020). Student attention, student motivation, and opportunity to participate all increase student engagement, which increases student academic performance (Price & Tovar, 2014). It is critical for educators to provide opportunities for students to participate and for students to take advantage of all of the opportunities to participate in the classroom to make learning more effective.

Finally, it is important to point out that the technology used in the hybrid classroom has an effect on student academic attention, motivation, opportunities to participate, and academic performance. Students may feel intimidated by the technology that is used in this classroom environment. They may not be comfortable being on camara and it may be difficult for them to get used to using a microphone when speaking (Myers et al., 2015). Also, technical difficulties may occur during the class session, such as loss of the internet connection, causing interruptions to the instruction and negatively impacting student engagement, student attention, student motivation, and opportunities to participate (Myers et al., 2015).

Research has shown that effective student attention to what transpires in class, a positive motivation to use the class resources to achieve academically, and a sense of efficacy associated with seizing on opportunity to participate can lead to higher student performance, which leads to a higher course completion rate. Student attention, motivation, and opportunities to participate are elements that previous researchers have demonstrated are key elements for future research (Lina et al., 2020; Myers et al., 2015; Price & Tovar, 2014). However, researchers have done little with studies on student attention, student motivation, and opportunities to participate to participate in the hybrid classroom from a student perspective. My study focused on the elements of student attention, student motivation, and opportunities to participate in the hybrid classroom from a student perspective to fill this gap in the research.

Conceptual Framework

The phenomenon I addressed in this study is the lack of knowledge of community college students' perceptions of hybrid class elements that affect their academic achievement, which has been overlooked by previous researchers (Dada et al., 2019). To improve hybrid leaning, it is essential to understand community college students' perceptions of hybrid class elements that affect their academic achievement. According to

Dada et al. (2019), having insight as to what students perceive as helping their motivation, academic participation, and opportunity to participate will increase their academic performance and the environment will be more conducive to learning. Gaining insights as to what community college students in hybrid classrooms perceive as helping their academic performance will help instructors make future hybrid courses more efficient and effective, leading to greater student engagement and a higher student retention rate (Pavelea & Moldovan, 2020). This is particularly imperative because there has been an increase in demand for hybrid classes in recent years, especially since the beginning of the COVID19 pandemic (Pavelea & Moldovan, 2020).

I used cognitive load theory as the theoretical foundation supporting the conceptual framework of my study. Cognitive load theory served as a guide to help me recognize and collect the subjective student data specific to the needs of my research question. The operationalization of the conceptual framework will help me to look specifically at student perceived and described manifestations of cognitive overload as those concepts are encountered as increasing or decreasing their attention, motivation, and participation (Figure 1) in the hybrid classroom.

Cognitive load theory is a complicated but heavily researched learning theory comprised of three main cognitive-influencing elements shaped by multiple effects (Sweller et al., 2011, 2019, as cited in Sweller, 2020). That being the case, as opposed to attempting to determine what undergraduate students might know about cognitive load theory, I used the conceptual framework for my study to reinterpret key outcomes of the theory to represent positive and negative aspects of the perceived learning experience represented by student attention to the instruction, motivation to learn the instructional content, and opportunities to participate in the learning activities. Therefore, after a brief general overview of cognitive load theory, to describe operationalizing the conceptual framework from the student perspective, each element of Figure 1 will be described in terms of how the element is a manifestation of cognitive load theory.

Cognitive load theory is a group of universal learning principles that have been demonstrated to result in efficient learning environments as a result of using human cognitive learning processes (Clark et al., 2006). Cognitive processing is a two-part process involving short-term and long-term memory. A cornerstone of cognitive processing of information is Miller's (1956, as cited in Clark et al., 2006) foundational theory that the human cognitive structure can only process 7 ± 2 items of new information at once. Once this threshold of 7 ± 2 items of new information is reached, the new information in short term memory must be moved to long-term memory to prevent short-term memory cognitive overload and for learning to occur. As the human brain processes new information, it categorizes that information and transfers it from shortterm memory into long-term memory, where it is placed in knowledge structures called schemas (Costley & Lange, 2017). It appears that schemas organize information according to how it is used. Schemas fluctuate in their degree of complexity and automation. Once the new information is organized into schemas, the learner can recall the information as needed to connect additional newly presented information to the information stored in the schema. Connecting newly presented information to organized information in the schema is when true learning occurs (Kalyuga & Liu, 2015).

To understand how learning occurs, it is important to understand the three types of cognitive load. When cognitive overload occurs, the new information presented to the learner is not transferred from short-term memory to long-term memory (Clark et al., 2006). In hybrid classes, there are environmental factors that may contribute to cognitive load, such as the technology used or the methods in which the information is presented (Clark et al., 2006; Kalyuga & Liu, 2015).

Germane Cognitive Load

The efficient and effective building of schemas is strongly influenced by three main types of working memory load (Clark et al., 2006; Kalyuga & Liu, 2015). Germane, or relevant load, is associated with the working memory resources that are required for completing a learning task or activity by learners with a specific level of prior knowledge. Germane cognitive load occurs within the learners when they are constructing, processing, and automating mental schemas. Germane cognitive load increases as the learner becomes increasingly aware of how and why to use the newly learned concepts, making the transfer of the new information between short and longterm memory more automatic (Costley & Lange, 2017). Hence, the learner may perceive the activity as enhancing attention, providing more opportunity to perform, and even increasing motivation to perform the academic content of the class (Clark et al., 2006). The amount of germane cognitive load is subject to the degree of element interactivity, that is, the interdependence between the related elements of new information that need to be processed at the same time in working memory.

Germane cognitive load, even though considered to be a good use of one's cognitive resources, can still weigh on the information processing system. When a learner experiences a higher level of germane cognitive load, it is usually caused by learning tasks with high degrees of element interactivity that the learner has not yet established links between. However, as the learner recognizes the interconnectedness between schemas committed to long-term memory, learning becomes more efficient and effective, more automated; as a result, germane cognitive load is substantially decreased during an effective instructional episode (Kalyuga & Liu, 2015). Student motivation and student participation are associated with germane cognitive load, which is crucial to enhance learning automation. The level of allocated resources, in particular germane resources, depends on student motivation and student engagement (opportunity to participate) with the learning tasks (Kalyuga & Liu, 2015). For example, there is a positive correlation between student motivation and germane cognitive load. According to Klepsch and Seufert (2020), higher learning intrinsic motivation resulted in a higher ability for the student to allocate cognitive resources to learning. When students are highly motivated to learn, they have a higher level of germane cognitive load then those students who are less motivated to learn (Costley & Lange, 2018). The good news for the motivated students is their germane cognitive load will begin to decrease as their learning becomes more automated (Costley & Lange, 2018) thus creating a positive (i.e., noneroding) relationship between motivation and germane load.

Intrinsic Cognitive Load

Intrinsic load refers mostly to the complexity of the course structure overall and the academic difficulty of the content being presented (Sweller, 2020). Typically, intrinsic load is acknowledged as course-related issues that a knowledgeable instructor should be able to anticipate and control. A common example of intrinsic cognitive load is when an educator presents too much new material too quickly in one lesson causing students to feel overwhelmed. The student may perceive multiple concepts presented in one class session as detracting from the academic content of the class because too much information at once increases the cognitive load (Clark et al., 2006) on short-term memory. There are element interactivity differences that a learner can experience. In this case, too much required element interactivity at one time can be attributed to intrinsic cognitive load. Intrinsic cognitive load differs from germane cognitive load in the way element interaction occurs. Students try to connect the new information to current knowledge as schema are formed and organized through germane cognitive load. Element interaction related to the effectiveness of how the information is presented occurs in the form of intrinsic cognitive load, which hinders schema development and organization. When the information that is presented in the lesson is too complex or when too much information is presented at once, students will experience cognitive overload with the result that student motivation will decline, student attention will drift, opportunities to participate will decrease, and learning will probably suffer (Klepsch & Seufert, 2020).

Extraneous Cognitive Load

Extraneous load imposes mental work that is not related to the learning goals and, as a result, wastes the limited mental resources of the students attempting to learn new material. According to Kalyuga and Liu (2015), extraneous cognitive load is typically associated with instructional delivery. When students interact with elements that are not relevant to the content presented by the instructor, such as faulty or improperly used technology, extraneous cognitive load will increase. According to Sweller (2020), some instructional practices unnecessarily increase element interactivity, increasing extraneous cognitive load for the learner. For example, when two related information sources are needed to understand the instructional message are presented separately (on a different page or at a different time), working memory resources may be consumed that are needed for meaningful learning (Kalyuga & Liu, 2015). When students experience cognitive overload because of technical difficulties or other distractions during content delivery, they are less likely to be motivated to learn, pay attention to the lesson, or participate in the lesson (Kalyuga & Liu, 2015). In other words, student attention, and opportunity to participate are eroded by extraneous cognitive load.

There are elements in the hybrid class learning environment that can create cognitive overload, including the technology used and course design (Curum & Khedo, 2021; Park et al., 2019). According to Curum and Khedo (2021), if there is not a good design of learning elements and instructional strategies in a hybrid class, the learners are prone to cognitive overload in the working memory. To assist with effective leaning in hybrid classes, the new curriculum material presented by the educator needs to be

readjusted and readapted according to appropriate cognitive theories. Therefore, reducing cognitive load in hybrid classes will create an environment that is effective and conducive to learning.

To make hybrid classes more effective leaning environments because of the technology used to present the new information, knowledge of cognitive overload in the learning process is critical. The way materials are presented by the instructor in the hybrid class with the technology used can create cognitive overload. According to Curum and Khedo (2021), because learning materials presented in hybrid classes are designed to fit mobile screens while allowing good transfer of knowledge on difficult learning topics, the importance of combining instructional design principles with cognitive load theories cannot be dismissed.

Cognitive Load Effects

There are several key effects that are associated with and that describe cognitive load effect on working memory. Split attention effect happens when a learner must divide his or her attention among multiple sources of information that cannot be understood alone (Sweller, 2020). When a learner's attention is split between multiple sources, extraneous cognitive load increases, making it challenging for the learner to cognitively process the new information. When the information is presented from multiple sources, new schema formation or making connections to current knowledge becomes a more difficult process for the learner, aggravating the problem by increasing germane load as the learner attempts to create new schema during an inefficient learning environment. As a result, student motivation, student attention, and opportunities to participate are eroded

by the increased extraneous load placed on the learner's short-term memory (Sweller, 2020).

Another effect, the redundancy effect, occurs when the same information is presented in different forms and this repetition of the same information interferes with the learning process (Sweller, 2020). While redundant information can refer to the presentation of any unnecessary information (extraneous load), such as sounds in the background or background music, redundant information is most often presented as information competing for the same cognitive resources of working memory. Redundant information is when an instructor presents the same information to the learners in a different form, for example introducing information in spoken and written form during a lesson (extraneous load). Processing redundant information using the limited capacity of short-term memory imposes unnecessary cognitive overload on the student (Dousay, 2016). Redundant information increases cognitive load during the learning experience with the result that student motivation, student attention, and opportunities to participate are eroded (Dousay, 2016) and the potential for student learning is decreased.

The expertise reversal effect (Sweller, 2020) almost seems counter intuitive on the surface. Short-term memory load is higher for novice learners than for advanced learners because advanced learners have previous knowledge of the subject matter, which is stored in the long-term memory schema (Sweller, 2020). The expert learner can connect the newly presented information to his or her current knowledge base. As the learner increases expertise related to a topic, element interactivity becomes automated resulting in a decrease in element interactivity. Initially, the decrease in element interactivity has

positive instructional consequences; however, when the student loses interest because he/she is no longer challenged, new learning can suffer (Rey & Fischer, 2013). Thus, the expertise reversal effect is the result of increased learner expertise that is unaccompanied by an appropriate increase in the learner feeling challenged by the courses content, a situation that leads to an increase in intrinsic cognitive load and a potential for less or even no new learning as attention and motivation wane.

The transient information effect (Sweller, 2020) occurs when transient information (for example, spoken information) is learned better by using a more permanent (for example, written information) medium for presenting the information. Lengthy or complex information may require the learner to work through the various aspects of the new information before it can be processed. When information is transient, such as spoken information, returning to it while processing current information may be a difficult or impossible task for the learner because of limited short-term memory capacity. Retaining current information in short-term memory while searching for other new relevant information may be overwhelming for the learner resulting in a reduction in learning. The process of connecting new information to previous knowledge may be less challenging when the new information is presented in a more permanent format that the learner can use to study (Leahy & Sweller, 2016). The transient information effect is relevant in the hybrid class because the majority of the new information presented in the classroom is transient. The transient effect increases cognitive load on the short-term memory. As a result, student motivation, student attention, and opportunities to participate are eroded.

Not all effects decrease learning efficiency thus leading to decreased learning situations. The worked example effect (Sweller, 2020) is generally associated with decreasing cognitive load on the learner. Clarke et al. (2006) stated, "A worked example is a step-by-step demonstration of how to perform a task or how to solve a problem" (p. 190). Cognitive load theory suggests that providing worked examples early in the learning experience followed by the student solving similar problems while successfully taking ownership of more of the steps facilitates student learning (Chen et al., 2020). The assumption is that worked examples provide learners with the necessary preliminary information that needs to be stored in long-term memory for future use. This frees up space in the short-term memory, which reduces cognitive load, and the learner should be able to recall the information in the future to solve problems and make connections (Sweller, 2020). Worked examples reduce intrinsic working memory through the reduction of element interactivity; they reduce germane cognitive load by helping to automate access to long-term memory schemas. As noted above, worked examples do have the potential to evoke the expertise reversal effect when learners are beyond needing the worked examples.

Finally, the modality effect occurs when the use of audio and visual instructions together creates a better learning situation than the use of visual or auditory instructions independently (Sweller, 2020). This effect is a positive effect, as its presence enhances the potential for learning. The learner's cognitive load is decreased when the instructions are presented in two modalities because the instructions are easier to process (Sweller, 2020). The use of visual information for one source (such as a chart) and the use of

auditory information for the other source (such as a video) can increase available shortterm memory, thereby increasing the probability for learning. The probability for learning is enhanced when instructions are presented in two modalities because there are individual differences in visuospatial working memory (Greenberg et al., 2021). Mayer and Moreno (2003) completed research that confirms the significance of the modality effect in the hybrid class. They found that because of the technology used in the classroom, the audio may not always be clear or there may be delayed in the audio as instruction is delivered to the remote site. In other words, the modality effect applied properly is helpful for maintaining learner attention, enhancing motivation, and providing more effective learning to enable learner participation during the learning process.

Student attention and opportunities to participate can become eroded by cognitive overload and a variety of cognitive load effects in the hybrid classroom. The learners in a hybrid class generally receive new information in the spoken form (the transient effect), creating a lack of a permanent source of the information (Kalyuga & Liu, 2015; Sweller, 2020). There is empirical evidence demonstrating a positive correlation between student participation and successful course completion (Bekkering & Ward, 2020). For example, participation in class, indicated by attendance and attentiveness, may also be a valid objective way to predict student academic performance. Because student participation can be monitored throughout the semester, it can also be used to identify students who are at risk of failing and students who are underperforming (Bekkering & Ward, 2020). Similarly, Quweider et al. (2019) pointed out that there is a direct correlation between student academic participation and student success. Among the students participating in the study who failed the course, lack of submitting assignments and lack of exam success were evident. Clark et al. (2006) surmised that successful academic performance cannot occur without academic participation, academic participation cannot occur without motivation, motivation cannot occur without opportunity, and opportunity cannot occur when there is too great a cognitive load being placed upon the student, especially a student who is new to the content.

Previous Uses of Cognitive Load Theory

Cognitive load theory has been used by previous researchers to identify ways to make learning environments more effective and more efficient for learning. The goal of previous research has been to identify ways to decrease all types of cognitive load and to decrease the negative effects of cognitive load (Blayney et al., 2015; Costley & Lange, 2017; Kalyuga & Liu, 2015; Lee et al., 2018; Li, 2016; Mayer & Moreno, 2003). For example, Li (2016) used cognitive load theory to complete a study that proposed an information technology supported pedagogy to teach mobile programming. The goal of the study was to make learning computer programming in an online environment more efficient.

One aspect of cognitive load that Li (2016) used in the study was the modality effect. The modality effect refers to the tendency of new information presented in the same modality to be grouped together (typically by a sense organ) for short-term memory to processing and then again with schema development during recall. As information is received through the senses, it is processed in the short-term memory. When too much information is received by one of the senses (visual, for example), cognitive overload can
occur because the information is processed by the same system (Sweller, 2020). If a student receives information through the different senses, there is a reduction in the number of interactions as the information is split up for processing by different sensory systems (audio, visual, kinesthetic, tactile), thereby reducing the amount of cognitive load the student experiences (Sweller, 2020). For example, when a student studies instructional materials that contains both visual diagrams and spoken information (auditory), more efficient processing of the instructional material may result, and the student may experience a lower cognitive load (Leahy & Sweller, 2016). Li concluded that when a student's attention is split between two or more sensory systems (i.e., looking at a diagram in a textbook and listening to audio describing the diagram), the student experiences a decrease in cognitive load. As opposed to on-screen text and picture representations, there is a decrease in cognitive load and an increase in learning when there is a combination of audio and visual modalities to complement each other (Li, 2016).

Student attention in hybrid classes is negatively affected by high cognitive load (Sweller, 2020). The hybrid class environment and the mode of instructional delivery can also affect student attention. For example, Yang et al. (2020) found that when the speed of the delivery of new information is increased to over 1.5 times the normal speed, student attention decreases and cognitive load increases. Lee et al. (2018) conducted a study that investigated the effects of using a second screen (using two computer screens at the same time to present new material in the learning environment) on student attention, learning performance, and student experience related to content relevance

imposing different amounts of cognitive load: low, medium, and high. During the study, information was presented to the students on both screens. At times, the information on both screens was related and at times the information presented on both screens was not related. The researchers concluded that second screen use reduced learning academic performance and learner satisfaction when the new information presented on the second screen caused high cognitive load. The new information caused high cognitive load when the information presented on both screens was not highly relevant or relatable to the learner. However, the learners experienced increased academic performance, concentration, and satisfaction when the new information presented on the second screen caused a medium level of cognitive load. This occurred when information that was highly relatable to the learners was displayed on both screens simultaneously (Lee et al., 2018).

Blayney et al. (2015) investigated the effects of adaptive instruction that occurs when learners who are initially presented with isolated elements of information in a noninteractive form (followed by a fully interactive form) outperform the learners who are presented with the same information in an interactive form only. Noninteractive information is information that is isolated or presented by itself, such as how to conjugate verbs in a foreign language. Interactive information is information that is used in conjunction with other information, such as how to conjugate verbs in a foreign language, and to be able to use the verbs correctly in a complete sentence related to an everyday activity (Blayney et al., 2015). The researchers concluded that students benefit greatly in terms of reduced cognitive load when educators present information in more than one format, interactive and isolated. Kalyuga and Liu (2015) focused on using cognitive load theory in learning environments that are technology based. It is crucial to manage cognitive load in learning environments that are technology based because technology can be a distraction and can become a part of the extraneous load on the students. Kalyuga and Liu concluded that it is not which technology is used in the classroom that makes a difference but how that technology is used, whether it would bring out learner activities and cognitive processes that may lead to constructing better and more permanent knowledge. The researchers discovered that cognitive load theory is very useful in determining cognitive load events in classroom environments that are based in technology.

In an older but significant study, Mayer and Moreno (2003) pointed out that in a learning environment that uses multimedia, five cognitive actions are required for active cognitive processing. These cognitive actions include selecting words, selecting images, organizing words, organizing images, and integrating information. The active-processing assumption states that these cognitive actions impose demands on the cognitive capacity of the information -processing system of the learner. Active-processing assumption states that learning does not happen if the learner is passively absorbing information. Instead, learners must engage in active cognitive processes, such as identifying and selecting material that is relevant, organizing the material into visual or verbal models, and attaching those models with previous knowledge (Mayer & Moreno, 2003).

There is a direct correlation between cognitive load and student motivation. Previous researchers have concluded that the higher the level of cognitive load the learner is experiencing, the less motivated he or she will be. Feldon et al. (2019) completed a review of previous studies that focused on student motivation and cognitive load. They concluded that these numerous studies offered evidence that cognitive load directly effects motivational beliefs independent of the learners' performance following the instruction. The direct effect of cognitive load on student motivation is the higher the cognitive load, the lower the student motivation (Feldon et al., 2019). Cognitive overload on the learner has a negative impact on student participation. The higher the learner's cognitive load, the lower the rate of participation (Sweller, 2020). Chen et al. (2012) found that the students' perceived information overload (too much new information at once) negatively influenced their participation and levels of cognitive processing in discussions.

My study benefits from the previous studies that used cognitive load theory because these studies were all conducted in a learning environment and the main goal of the studies was to make learning more effective and efficient. The findings of the studies provided more information about the learning environment, especially about the way instruction was delivered. For example, it is crucial that the instructor in the hybrid class reduces unnecessary cognitive load to create a more efficient learning environment. When cognitive load is reduced in the learning environment, student attention to the new learning material and student motivation to learn increase (Blayney et al., 2015; Feldon et al., 2019; Mayer & Moreno, 2003). The instructor should also present complimentary information using different modalities (e.g., audio, visual) to make the new information easier for the students to process. In classroom that use technology, it is essential that the technology used does not become a distraction for the students in the learning environment. When the instructor uses different modalities in the classroom to present new information and when the instructor ensures that the technology used in the classroom does not create a distraction, student attention to the new material and student motivation increase (Blayney et al., 2015; Feldon et al., 2019; Mayer & Moreno, 2003). To make the learning environment more efficient, educators also need to give students the opportunity to participate in the lessons. Students who are motivated, pay attention, and who are given the opportunity to participate experience decreased cognitive load and are more successful in their courses (Blayney et al., 2015; Chen et al., 2012; Feldon et al., 2019; Mayer & Moreno, 2003). My study adds to previous research that uses cognitive load theory by looking specifically at the hybrid learning environment from the student's point of view and how the hybrid environment affects student attention and opportunity to participate.

Improved Learning From a CLT Perspective

Cognitive load is a natural constraint of the human information processing system (Sweller, 2020) that accompanies learning. Learning occurs if cognitive overload in the short-term memory can be minimized by the transfer of the new information into short-term memory and then encoded as schema to long-term memory. The information is then stored in long-term memory where the learner can recall it when needed. Strategies for educators to use for enhancing the processing of new information into short-term memory include presenting new material in manageable segments for the students, helping students connect the new material to current knowledge, decrease distractions in the

classroom, and implementing interactive activities into the lessons (Klepsch & Seufert, 2020). Strategies for learners to devote more into building mental schema in the long-term memory include rehearsal, organizing the new material, and strategies to elaborate, which can help the learner gain a deeper understanding of the information (Klepsch & Seufert, 2020).

Summary

Chapter 2 provided a background, explanation, and rational for using cognitive load theory to complete my study. There is also a discussion of previously completed research using the theory as the foundation for the conceptual framework. In this review, four major themes surfaced: (a) the lack of student engagement is a persistent issue in hybrid courses; (b) the lack of student engagement is a major cause of the high student drop-out rate in hybrid courses; (c) student enrollment in distance learning courses has increased while the student success rate in distance learning courses has decreased; and (d) the continuing evolution of technology will provide both new opportunities as well as new barriers for teachers and students in a virtual learning environment.

The literature demonstrated a lack of student academic performance in hybrid courses (Gagnon et al., 2020; Park et al., 2019) but at the same time specifically lacked robust research on student academic performance in the hybrid classroom. McCall et al. (2013) and Schaddelee and McConnell (2018) looked at student dissatisfaction with the hybrid classroom, although they focused on why students were dissatisfied with the course, not on their attention or opportunities to participate in the hybrid classroom. The lack of student academic achievement is a continuing problem in the hybrid classroom, but scholars have yet to research how the lack of student academic achievement is perceived by students based on their experiences related to how they personally understand the hybrid classroom. With new information based on research, the impact of the lack of student academic performance on the future of hybrid classroom can be addressed.

Chapter 3 details the methodology I used in this study to explore student experiences in the hybrid classroom and what the students perceive as the engaging aspects of the hybrid classroom. In the Research Design and Rational section of Chapter 3, I discuss why I used a basic qualitative design to complete my study and why it was the best design to answer my research question. In the Role of the Researcher section, I discuss the dual roles that I had as I conducted my research. In the Methodology section, I discuss how the participants of my study were selected, how the interviews for my study were conducted, and how the data were analyzed when the interviews were completed. I also discuss the instrumentation aspects of my study, what questions I asked my study participants and how the questions helped me answer my research question. I also discuss threats to validity to my study, such as researcher bias, and procedures I need to keep in mind when interacting with my participants or the data I collected.

Chapter 3: Research Method

The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to determine community college students' perceptions of hybrid class elements that affect their academic achievement. The setting for the study was a southeastern U.S. community college in North Carolina. The focus of the study was on student perceptions acquired from taking hybrid classes. The major sections of this chapter include the rationale for the research design, role of the researcher, methodology, and threats to validity.

Research Design and Rationale

The following research question guided this study: What are community college students' perceptions of hybrid class elements that affect their academic achievement? The phenomenon of this study was the lack of knowledge of community college students' perceptions of hybrid class elements that affect their academic achievement. This phenomenon is important to the field of college education because hybrid courses are currently a significant part of distance learning at the college level and hybrid learning will continue to have a crucial role in the field of education well into the future (Chisum, 2020). Hence, these hybrid courses will need to become more effective and more efficient for current and future learners. The lack of student academic performance and the high dropout rate are indicators that hybrid classes are not currently as effective and efficient as educators would desire.

I conducted my study within the qualitative tradition. The qualitative tradition best fit the purpose of this study and helped answer the research question because the data came directly from the individuals who were currently or previously enrolled in a hybrid course. The experiences were fresh in the participants' minds, which was helpful when participants shared information about the quality of their experiences in the hybrid class. The quality of the participant's experience is a key characteristic of qualitative research that made the approach appropriate for my study. According to Kahlke (2014), the variables that act upon people in a qualitative situation are not easily measurable and can only be described and interpreted from the given context. Only qualitative research provides the researcher with an in-depth view of the ways people come to understand, act, and manage their everyday situations within given venues.

I used the basic qualitative approach, which is a flexible methodological design within the qualitative tradition. The basic qualitative approach is a design that offered me flexibility to manipulate the established set of philosophic assumptions and techniques associated with the known qualitative methodology of phenomenology. What that means for this study is, although my research question did not fit neatly within the confines of the traditional phenomenological methodology, I blended compatible elements of the phenomenological approach to explore the lived experiences of my participants as they experienced learning in the hybrid course.

In exploring the lived experiences of my participants as they relate to student attention and opportunities to participate in the hybrid class at a remote site, a traditional phenomenological approach might appear to be the most appropriate methodological design for the study. Phenomenological research is a proper fit for studying affective, emotional, and intense experiences to get below the surface of perceptions to discover the shared nature of the experience. Hence, the result of a phenomenological study is a description that presents the heart of the phenomenon (Worthington, 2013). I did not attempt to define the essence of the phenomenon (the lack of knowledge of students' perceptions of the lack of student academic performance in hybrid classes) but rather determine an understanding of the phenomenon that can ultimately be used to lead educators towards pragmatic solutions that address the lack of student success associated with the phenomenon.

I also adapted a few additional characteristics of a basic qualitative approach to fit the needs of my study. By epitomizing the characteristics of qualitative research (Caelli et al., 2003), I was obligated to choose the best techniques that qualitative methodology has to offer. The characteristic of qualitative methodology that was the cornerstone of my study is focusing on gaining an understanding of the research phenomenon (the lack of knowledge of students' perceptions of the lack of student academic performance in hybrid classes). Focusing on gaining an understanding of the research phenomenon was important to my study because how the variables in the hybrid classroom environment affect student attention and opportunities to participate (which ultimately effect student academic performance) cannot be easily measured. In other words, while attempting to measure each participant's personal experience with the phenomenon is difficult at best, gaining an understanding of their experience with the phenomenon was obtainable by speaking directly to the students to gain their insights.

Role of the Researcher

As the researcher, I had three roles to complete as I conducted this basic qualitative study: organizer, interviewer, and analyzer. My worldview underpinned all decisions I made regarding the conduct of the study. The worldview I subscribe to is constructivism. As an educator of 26 years, the constructivist idea of knowledge development best aligns with my thoughts, beliefs, and experiences as to how people learn and process new information. Constructivists, such as me, believe that people learn best when the actively construct their own meaning of the new information presented to them (Clark et al., 2006). As a learner, I believe I process, or construct, new information by relating it to my experiences, beliefs, and attitudes, which I believe all learners do. My constructivist worldview aligns with the basic qualitative approach, grounded in phenomenology, that I used for this study (Merriam, 2015). However, my selection of a basic qualitative approach to organize this study demonstrates that my constructivist learning is tempered with a dose of pragmatism. From a pragmatic point of view, I used words and thoughts of the participants of my study to interpret issues in a manner that ultimately might allow educators to take action to make future hybrid classes more efficient and effective.

As a subscriber to a constructivist worldview tempered by pragmatism, I believe that it is the role of educators and educational institutions to serve the students, help all students reach their academic goals, and to facilitate learning. Hence, when there is a lack of student academic performance in the classroom, educators and educational institutions need to take necessary steps to make the learning environment more efficient and effective to increase student academic performance. My worldview as a constructivist affects what I do, think, and believe in many ways. I always do my best to increase student motivation, attention, and opportunities to participate. I am aware also of the lack of student academic performance in my hybrid classes and I believe it is my job to reach these students. I believe that student input as to what specifically in the hybrid classroom increases or decreases student attention, and opportunity to participate is key to making these classrooms more efficient and effective to meet the needs of the students.

I am an instructor of hybrid classes at the community college level. As such, I may have some biases that I need to be aware of as the researcher. First, I needed to make sure that I looked at the data I collected from the participant's point of view (who were students) as opposed to an instructor's point of view. I had to make sure that I contained my own world views and focus on what the participants shared with me. I contained my own world views by surfacing and acknowledging them in a reflective journal. Focusing on what the participants had to say allowed me to answer my research question with rich data coming directly from the participants.

As an instructor of hybrid classes, the participants may have wanted to tell me what I wanted to hear as opposed to what they were thinking. I addressed this participant bias by using a well-designed and well-rehearsed interview protocol that is built upon the needs of my study for understanding the unit of analysis (the students interviewed). I tested my interview protocol on community college students (in a pilot study) to see if I get the type of responses needed to answer my interview questions. I did not interview students at my place of employment to avoid any biases potentially induced by the setting. I arranged to interview students at a community college that is approximately an hour from my place of employment. The students were individuals I had never met or worked with previously. It was necessary to the validity of my study that the participants answered my questions openly and that they responded to me as a researcher and not as an educator. To manage this participant bias, I let the participants know that honest answers to the interview questions were critical to the purpose of the study and to improve future hybrid classes. Another participant bias that may have arisen as I conducted my study is the participants may have been concerned that I will share their answers with their instructor. To address this potential bias, I assured the participants that their answers were confidential and that I will not share their answers with anyone.

After the student participants for the study were chosen, I interviewed the participants. After interviews were complete and data was collected, I analyzed the data by using the cluster method where similar answers were grouped together to look for patterns as they developed. As I interviewed my participants to collect data for my study and as I analyzed the data once I completed my interviews, I kept in mind the aspects of my role as the researcher that have possibly affected the type of data I collected or how I will interpreted the data.

Methodology

The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to determine community college students' perceptions of hybrid class elements that affect their academic achievement. Through the interview process, I identified the experiences that the community college student participants have in the hybrid classroom that enhance/detract from student academic achievement. Eight participants shared their experiences of the hybrid class through individual participant interviews. The use of eight purposefully determined participants interviewed according to a rigorous interview protocol provided appropriate data saturation. Once the data were collected from the interviewees, they were analyzed by using the cluster method (Elliott, 2018). Responses that were related to one another were clustered together so that conclusions could be drawn from the patterns that I saw and interpreted.

Participant Selection Logic

The target population I used to draw participants for my study was community college students who were currently or previously enrolled in a hybrid class. I took advantage of the subjective nature of the purposeful sampling strategy to help ensure that I acquired in-depth and detailed information about the phenomenon under investigation (Shaheen & Pradhan, 2019). Purposeful sampling is a strategy that researchers use to recruit study participants who can provide rich data about the phenomenon under investigation. To mitigate the potential for researcher bias applying purposeful sampling, the scope of the potential participant population is narrowed through the application of specific criteria each participant must meet to be considered for the research study (Shaheen & Pradhan, 2019). As a result, I used criterion-based purposeful sampling to ensure the participants of my study met a specific set of participation criteria. The three qualifying criteria each participant must have met to be considered for my research study included (a) currently enrolled as a student at the community college where I conducted my study, (b) currently or previously enrolled as a student in a hybrid class, and (c) at least 18 years of age. The director of the distance learning department at the college where I conducted my study was supportive of my research, and he assisted me with discerning that the potential study participants meet the qualifying criteria.

After applying the qualifying criteria to the population of all currently or previously enrolled students in a hybrid class at the college, a working sample of eight to 12 study participants were selected. I used the purposive sampling strategy to select the participants for my study because this strategy allowed me to use my judgement and knowledge of the context of the study to select my participants. I selected participants for my study out of the participant pool who were currently taking hybrid classes or who have recently completed a hybrid course. For example, if an individual in the participant pool completed a hybrid class a year ago, I would choose them over an individual in the participant pool who completed a hybrid class 3 years ago. The individual who completed the hybrid class a year ago may be better able to recall details about the class compared to the individual who completed the class 3 years ago.

To avoid a conflict of interest or power differentials, the participants of my study were not students from my workplace. The participants were from a remote site campus, approximately 80 miles travel distance from my place of employment. The participants of my study were 18 years of age or older; therefore, as adults, no parental permission was needed for them to participate. I sent each potential participant an invitation to participate in my study via email. The invitation letter included an explanation of what the participants would be required to do as participants in the study, as well as possible consequences and potential risks they would be taking, and the benefits of participating in the study. The participants were informed that the interviews were recorded and videotaped. They were also informed as to how the data that they provided were used to draw conclusions once the study was completed. The data collected in the interview process were kept confidential. The identity of the students who participated in the study is also kept confidential and secure. To protect the participants' identity and confidentiality, I used encrypted computer-based files and removed personal identifiers from any study documents used. I let my participants know that the answers they give to my interview questions would be used to help make future hybrid classes more engaging and more conducive to learning to put them at ease. I wanted my participants to realize how important it is for them to answer honestly as opposed to telling me what I want to hear because I am an educator.

After the potential participants received my invitation, read it, met my criteria for participation, and agreed to participate, they acknowledged informed consent and were considered members of the potential participant pool from which I determined the working sample. Follow-up contact was made with each potential participant via email. I let them know that they became a participant in the study or that I appreciated their interest and thanked them for their time.

Instrumentation

I selected the semistructured interview as my data collection instrument because such interviews, being well organizationally structured, make it easier to (a) compare respondent data, (b) obtain detailed information that adheres to a well-prepared interview protocol, and (c) give greater attention to the individual's point of view (Queirós et al., 2017). Combining a basic qualitative design and conducting interviews allowed me to speak directly to my participants to gain an understanding of the phenomenon studied. The questions that were used during each interview were researcher created using a rigorous interview protocol supported by the literature and focused by my specific understanding of the data needs of the study (see Appendix). The research question was addressed within the protocol by interview questions specifically developed from acknowledged literature sources. Content validity was addressed through the determination of specific data characteristics that were associated in the literature and in practice with what was sought from each interview question, which was enhanced by specific probes, if necessary. The steps I have taken to create the interview protocol establish that conducting interviews as my data collection instrument was sufficient to address my research question.

The specific interview questions, along with a few example probes, and space for written notes have been distilled from the interview protocol as an Interview Guide (see Appendix). The interview questions in the guide were used with each participant in the same order, delivered in the same manner. I interviewed each participant one time, and each interview was about 25 minutes in duration.

Understanding that the relationship between sample size and data saturation has less to do with the number of participants and more to do with how the data from those participants were monitored and managed (see Fusch & Ness, 2015), I made sure that I collected the data I needed during the interviews. I achieved this goal by asking each participant the same interview questions and I was prepared to recognize and record applicable data as I conducted the interviews. Using a robust interview protocol (see Appendix), I remained focused on collecting only data that were applicable to my research question, relying upon carefully crafted interview questions that were specifically supported by the extant literature that are specific to the understood characteristics of the data I needed for the study, and I used probing questions to assist when a participant response began to drift away from the data I was seeking. The quality of this plan for collecting the data greatly enhanced the probability of achieving data saturation with the sample I used.

Procedures for Recruitment, Participation, and Data Collection Procedures for Recruitment

I was granted written permission to conduct my study at a local community college by the director of the distance learning department and the president of the college. There is not an institutional review board (IRB) process at the college where my study was conducted. The community college is located in southeastern North Carolina.

To recruit participants for my study, I, with permission, visited four hybrid classes to present my proposed study to the students. I shared with the students the purpose of my study and what was expected of the participants. I shared my contact information for those students to use who were interested in participating in my study. I also asked the instructor of hybrid classes to post a flyer advertising my study that was submitted for review and acceptance by the Walden IRB, in the classroom to recruit participants.

The students interested in participating in my study contacted me by email. I determined if the student fit the criteria to participate in my study. If the student fit the criteria to participate in my study, I sent the student a participation invitation letter and a Letter to Selected Study Participants. The selected participants then responded to my email informing me that they consent to participate in my study and when they were available to participate. If the interested student did not meet the criteria for participation in my study, I sent them a Letter to Potential Participants Not Selected for the Study.

Participation

Each participant in my study completed an interview that was about 25 minutes in duration. I offered the student the opportunity to complete the interview in a face-to-face format or via a ZOOM meeting. Every participant chose to participate in a Zoom meeting. Once the interview was complete, I presented the participant with a \$10.00 Starbucks gift card as a token of my appreciation.

Data Collection

The importance of each semistructured interview question and its relationship to acquiring sufficient good quality data cannot be overstated. As a result, driving the data collection process, including interview question development, was the carefully crafted interview protocol. The underlying purpose of the interview protocol was to ensure that I maximized the potential for each interview question to generate the maximum amount of rich descriptive information possible for addressing the research question of the study. To that end, the interview questions were developed directly from the interview protocol.

Based upon the literature-supported foundation for acquiring the type and quality of data I believed I needed for meaningfully addressing my research question, I used my interview protocol to organize a personal interview with each participant using Zoom meeting technology. To conduct the interviews, I used an Interview Guide (see Appendix), comprised of each interview question supported by the interview protocol arranged in a specific order for delivery and accompanied by space for adding an occasional important note.

To record the data, I recorded each Zoom meeting using the Zoom recording technology. My exit strategy for each interview was to ask each participant if they have any concerns and I reminded them of the security procedures for their interview data: the data were not shared, and their names were not associated with the data. I then let each participant know that, within a week, I would supply them with a transcript of the interview for member checking purposes. I asked the participants to review the transcript and to contact me by email or phone if they find any errors. I then thanked each participant, and I turned off all recording devices.

Data Analysis Plan

According to Maxwell (2008), a basic concept of qualitative research is that data analysis should be conducted during the data collection process. Analyzing the data while collecting it allowed me to progressively focus on the characteristics of the interview data and to make observations to decide how to test relationships, frequencies, commonalities, and potential ideas or hunches that I surfaced. Therefore, data analysis began with the interview process as I looked for key characteristics within the data, as planned in my interview protocol. The data I collected focused on what the participants perceived, based on their experiences, as enhancing or detracting from their attention and opportunities to participate in the hybrid class. For example, if a participant described a particular aspect of the technology used in the hybrid classroom as detracting their attention, this information was considered useful data relevant to addressing a specific research question of the study.

The next step in transitioning to the data analysis process was transcribing the interviews. The exact words the participants used to share their experiences were transcribed by me, by hand, into a digital Word document along with notations of any observed body language or voice intonations that were observed. Personally, transcribing the interviews gave me more time to be engaged with the data. I also included in my transcription any notes that I took during the interview process.

After the interviews were transcribed, I read and reread each transcribed interview looking for specific words or phrases characterizing their learning experiences, areas of participant emphasis, relevant repetitions, and other early patterns that arose from an initial encounter with each of the transcripts. In this manner, I used initial recognition to detect similarities within and regularities among the data collected (see Saldaña & Leavy, 2014). This step of early patterning of the data helped me with the organization of the data before the data were coded.

I used two coding methods to analyze my data: descriptive coding and values coding. I used the descriptive coding method as a first cycle coding process to look for unique, informative, surprising, or common descriptions related to their hybrid class learning experiences within the words of the participants (see Saldaña & Leavy, 2014). As a result, the use of descriptive coding gave me an idea of what each participant experienced, a description of what they understood to be taking place in the hybrid classroom as it relates to enhancing or detracting from their learning experiences. I then used values coding as a second cycle coding process to look for the presence of participant value statements. Values coding helped me to understand why the participants felt the way they felt about their experiences in the hybrid classroom as those experiences related to enhancing or detracting from their capacity to learn the course material. I then compared the codes from descriptive and values coding methodologies to find potential relationships that were uncovered between the two coding methods. Finally, I used any new codes that come from the relationships that I find between the two coding methods to reprise both coding methods again with a more specific focus. This specific focus allowed me to find additional new codes, refine the wording of previous codes, and even begin to collect codes into categories.

Having inductively analyzed the data as objectively as possible, I then deductively analyzed the same codes, categories, and patterns to see if and how they might fit into key predetermined themes residing in the literature and my research question. There were themes that I used to initially help me organize the development of categories and potential patterns from the data, such as attention, motivation, and opportunities to participate. With themes, initial codes, categories, and patterns in mind, there were additional literature-related and theory-related ideas (ex: intrinsic cognitive load, extrinsic cognitive load, germane cognitive load, collaboration, technology, instructional design, classroom community, interactive, and cognitive overload) that I used to reexamine my original analysis. For those categories and patterns that did not appear to fit one or more of the themes, I returned to the codes, categories, and patterns to see if I could inductively find additional themes to supplement the original three. The software I used to assist me with data analysis was Excel. When I encountered codes, categories, or patterns during data analysis that seemed important but did not fit into any of the themes, I entered them into a codebook, in the form of an Excel spreadsheet, for future access as needed.

Issues of Trustworthiness

Credibility

There are four strategies that I employed to ensure the credibility of my study: methodological triangulation, member checks, data saturation, and reflexivity. To establish internal validity within my study, I employed methodological triangulation. I will use two coding processes (descriptive and values) to analyze the data that were compared and combined. Although there was no prolonged contact with the participants of the study, I employed member checks as a strategy to establish credibility for the data collection of my study. I gave each participant a copy of the interview transcript, and I asked them to review it and inform me if there are any errors in the transcription. Saturation was enhanced through my rigorous interview protocol upon literature supported interview questions that are data characteristic specific. I used the strategy of reflexivity to ensure credibility of my study by maintaining a journal in which I listed and question my major decisions about my study, maintained a record of my inner thoughts and self-assessments as I interacted with situations based upon my feelings, biases, reactions, and motives and how they influenced me. I also maintained a more traditional reflective journal, where I recorded and reflected upon the observed actions of others and the outcomes of the strategies and processes I employed.

Transferability

The main strategy I employed to establish transferability is application of the criterion-based purposeful sampling strategy to enhance functional variation in participant selection. After potential participants were determined, I used my personal knowledge to and understanding of the data needs of my study to select male and female participants, participants from a variety of hybrid classes with different instructors, students who were currently enrolled in hybrid classes, and students who have taken hybrid classes in the past. This enhanced the possibility that the results of my study applied to a variety of individuals who are hybrid learners.

Dependability

The audit trails that I used to establish dependability were my journals. The two journals I kept not only included key decisions and records of important processes, but they also allowed me to have self-awareness through the entire process of the study. As previously described, the dependability of my study was also established through the use of precise and robust interview protocol and methodological triangulation. I have taken great care to align the key components of the study: problem statement, purpose statement, and research question lexically and dialectically leading to a well-aligned conceptual framework that was used to determine the methods for the study.

Confirmability

To establish confirmability, I recorded my thoughts during the process of data collection and analysis. I recorded what topics were unique and interesting during the data collection process (the interviews), wrote down my thoughts about coding, provided a rationale for why I merged codes together, and explained what the themes mean. This process of recording my thoughts during data collection and data analysis established confirmability because the results and conclusions of my study can be easily followed and confirmed by following my thought processes. A sampling of my notes during the data collection and data analysis process is attached to my dissertation.

Ethical Procedures

I was granted IRB approval to conduct my study by the Walden University IRB. The Walden University IRB approval number for this study is 03-05-24-0494544. I was also granted permission via email and phone conversations to conduct my study at a local community college by the director of the distance learning department and the president of the college. I worked with the director of the distance learning program to reach out to the instructors of hybrid classes to arrange classroom visits to present my proposed study to the students. There is no IRB at the community college where I conducted the study.

The participants were treated with respect. They consented to participation and the participants were voluntarily a part of my study. The participants knew what to expect during the interview process, particularly how long the interview is expected to last.

The participants had privacy when completing the interviews. We conducted the interview in a ZOOM meeting, which was conducive to privacy. The participants had the option to complete a face-to-face interview.

To avoid the ethical concern of a power relationship, I assured the participants that participation in my study will not affect their grade in the course. I also assured them that being a participant in my study did not affect their standing at the college in any way. I asked the participants to answer the interview questions with their perceptions of the hybrid class, not with the answers that they think I want to hear.

The data collected in the interview process were kept confidential. The identity of the students who participated in the study was also kept confidential and secure. To protect the participants' identity and confidentiality, I encrypted computer-based files and removed personal identifiers from any study documents used.

Summary

In this chapter, I identified the qualitative research tradition as the most appropriate approach for this study. The qualitative tradition best fits the purpose of the current study and helped answer the research question because the data came directly from the individuals who were currently enrolled in a hybrid course. I provided a rationale for the selection of a basic qualitative study design (offered me flexibility to manipulate the established set of philosophic assumptions), explained my role as the researcher, and described data collection instrument (interviews to understand the student's perspective of the hybrid classroom). I also identified protocols, and analysis procedures that I used (descriptive coding to give me an idea what each participant is experiencing and values coding to gain and understanding as to why the participants feel the way they feel). I outlined the criteria for study site selection and how participants would be chosen. The chapter concluded with a discussion of the processes and procedures that I used to increase the trustworthiness of my study (methodological triangulation, member checks, data saturation, reflexivity, criterion-based purposeful sampling strategy, journaling, and recording my thoughts during data collection and

analysis). Further, I addressed ethical procedures including maintaining anonymity of the participants and ethical considerations associated with data collection.

Chapter 4 will include descriptions of the setting, with care to protect the anonymity of the academic institution and the participants. Additionally, demographics, data collection and analyses practices, and evidence of trustworthiness will be presented. Steps taken during data analysis, as well as details of the interview process will be described. The results of the data analyses will be described according to themes that will reflect the conceptual framework of the study and underpin the research question.

Chapter 4: Results

The purpose of this basic qualitative study was to determine community college students' perceptions of hybrid class elements that affect their academic achievement. The conceptual framework for this study design and the research question were based on cognitive load theory. The study was centered on the following research question: What are community college students' perceptions of hybrid class elements that affect their academic achievement?

This chapter presents the results of this study on community college students' perceptions of hybrid class elements that affect their academic achievement. The chapter includes a description of the setting, demographics information from all participants, and the data collection process. This chapter also includes relevant information about the data analysis conducted, the evidence of trustworthiness, and the study results. A summary of the results is noted at the end of this chapter.

Setting

For this study, I reached out to instructors at a community college in southeastern North Carolina to inquire about visiting their hybrid classes to recruit participants. Three instructors responded granting me permission to visit their classes. I visited a total of seven classes, where I introduced myself and I invited the students to participate in my study. I left copies of my Walden University IRB-approved flyer with information about my study in each classroom at the end of my presentation so that potential participants would be able to contact me. I received emails from eight interested individuals. The interested individuals fit the criteria for my study; hence, they became the participants for my study.

The first interview took place on April 29, 2024, in a Zoom meeting. The meeting was audio recorded using the recording feature in Zoom, and the interview time was 18 minutes and 47 seconds. As per Walden Policy, the committee chair member, Dr. Koss, listened to the interview recording and read the interview transcript to confirm that the interview was conducted as described in the study. All interviews were conducted via a Zoom meeting. One participant had to reschedule our interview due to an unexpected family obligation. All interviews started on time and all participants completed their interview. The average interview time was 14 minutes. Table 1 shows participant interview duration.

My study participants included seven female participants and one male participant. Seven of my study participants were White and one participant was Asian. All participants were 18 years of age or older. The curriculum that the students were studying in their hybrid classes included history, science, and math.

Table 1

Participant	Interview duration (min)
1	18.47
2	20.15
3	10:25
4	18:46
5	8:47
6	13:20
7	13:33
8	15:15

Participant Interview Duration

Data Collection

The data collection process began once I received approval from the IRB at Walden University. I received written permission from the president of the community college in southeastern North Carolina to recruit student participants, and I received written permission from the instructors of the hybrid classes to visit their classes to recruit participants. All of the students in each of the classes I visited were potential participants because they met the inclusion criteria. Once I received an email from each participant and they consented to participate, a time and date for each interview was set.

Each interview took place in a Zoom meeting over the next two weeks. The interviews were conducted at the convenience of the participants, outside of their work and class schedules. The data were collected between April 29, 2024, and June 2, 2024. The Zoom audio recordings, along with the transcripts, of each of the interviews were stored in my password protected personal laptop computer, as approved by the IRB. Once each interview was complete, each participant received a copy of the interview transcript via email for their review to validate the data. One participant corrected a punctuation error in the transcript. I corrected the error and sent the transcript to the participant again for validation.

Data Analysis

I began the data analysis process while conducting each interview. I looked at each interview carefully to develop a list of key characteristics within the data, as planned in my interview protocol. The data I collected focused on the elements in their hybrid classes the participants perceived, based on their experiences, as enhancing or detracting from their attention and opportunities to participate in the hybrid class. Table 2 lists the elements that the participants perceived, based on their experiences, that enhanced or detracted from their attention and opportunities to participate in their hybrid classes that I noted during the interview process.

Table 2

Elements that enhanced student attention	Elements that detracted from student
and opportunities to participate in the	attention and opportunities to participate
hybrid classroom	in the hybrid classroom
Clear instructions for assigned work.	Having to wait for the instructor to
	a question.
The use of instructor made videos.	Not having clear instructions to complete assignments.
The ability to ask questions in real time	Completing group assignments when
during the face-to-face session of the	there is no time given to work on the
hybrid class.	assignments during the face-to-face class
	sessions.
Receiving timely feedback from the	The feeling of isolation.
instructor on completed work.	
The ability to attend on campus instructor	Confusion when it is not clear where to
office hours, along with online instructor	submit completed work.
office hours.	
The ability to complete assignments	Issues completing and submitting
independently before the due date as time	assignments when there are issues with
permits prior to the due date.	the technology used in the hybrid class.
	Not able to attend the in-person session of
	the hybrid class if there are issues with the
	technology.

Enhanced: Attention and Opportunities in Hybrid Classroom

The next step I completed in the data analysis process was transcribing each

interview to capture the data in written form and to give each participant the opportunity to look at the data for accuracy. While transcribing the interviews, I was able to notate any body language cues or voice changes that I observed. The most noteworthy body language cues and voice changes with the participants occurred when the participants were asked to discuss how well they did in their hybrid classes. The participants were

happy to say that they did well in their hybrid classes even though the course was

difficult.

During the next step in the data analysis process, I used initial recognition to

detect similarities within and regularities among the data I collected (Saldaña & Leavy,

2014). Initial recognition assisted me with data organization. Figure 2 lists the similarities

within and regularities, or initial recognition, among the data I collected.

Figure 2

Similarities and Regularities Among Data Collected (Initial Recognition)

Similarities and regularities among the data
Discussion board assignments assigned in hybrid classes as a forum of communication.
Delay in getting feedback from professor. Professors are learning about hybrid teaching.
Less motivation in hybrid classes. Less accountable because there is a detached feeling.
Technological difficulties in connecting to the class or staying connected.
Higher comfort level asking questions in a face-to-face classroom environment or in-person office hours
with the professor. Participation occurred only when required.
Higher motivation in an in-person classroom environment because of comfort level and working directly
with peers.
Higher accountability level in a face-to-face classroom. Instructor created videos are helpful in a hybrid
class.
Software used in the hybrid class was not compatible with the student's current computer.
Having unlimited access to videos or PowerPoint presentations posted to the hybrid classroom was
helpful.
Zoom meetings and Microsoft Teams meetings were helpful. Helpful to have multiple ways to
communicate.
Set or staggered due dates for assignments.
Flexibility to complete assignments during free time, as long as the work is submitted by the due date.
The ability to work independently.
Helpful that the professor is available to meet outside of class time.
Repetitive or monotonous assignments were not helpful to learning the content and lowered motivation.
For example, weekly discussion board assignments.
It was helpful, in terms of organization, to have all the course content in one place. The technology
allowed students to download the lectures for the course and to keep class notes all in one place.
Technological issues occurred when submitting assignments, especially when submitting work at the last
minute.
Professor not using in- person or online office hours hurts participation.
More difficult to build a relationship with the professor and classmates in a hybrid class. More likely to
ask questions in an in-person classroom.

Similarities and regularities among the data
Lack of experience taking hybrid classes. There is a need for training.
The technology used in the hybrid class, such as the online textbook and the platform, can be stressful if
you do not know how to use it.
The technology used in the hybrid classroom is helpful when communicating with the professor and
classmates. However, training is needed.
It is helpful when the professor does not pressure students to participate.
Participation is difficult when there is not a variety of options to participate.
Technology offers a variety of ways to learn.
The professor presenting material in an understandable way during the in-person session was helpful in
learning the content and with participation.
The professor answering questions in the chat room during the live session was helpful.
Material is self-taught in a hybrid class, so you must be a motivated student.
It is easy to procrastinate in a hybrid class.
Participation included attending an in-person session of the class each week. Functioning cameras and
microphones during the in-person sessions were a requirement.
The technology used in the hybrid class can hinder participation and learning if there is a distraction
(something pops up or technology fails) during the in-person class session.
The use of breakout rooms during the in-person class session was helpful to the learning process and to
participation.
The use of polling (the professor posts a question, and the students have to answer) during the in-person
class sessions was helpful to learning and to participation

The next step that I used in the data analysis process was to use two coding

methods to analyze the data, descriptive coding and values coding. The use of descriptive

coding gave me an idea of what each participant experienced, a description of what they

understood to be taking place in the hybrid classroom as it relates to enhancing or

detracting from their learning experiences. Values coding helped me to understand why

the participants felt the way they felt about their experiences in the hybrid classroom as

those experiences relate to enhancing or detracting from their capacity to learn the course

material. Tables 3 and 4 include the codes found from each coding method.

Table 3

Codes from Descriptive	Coding Method
------------------------	---------------

Elements that enhance learning and	Elements that detract from learning and
participation in the hybrid classroom.	participation in the hybrid classroom.
Instructor made videos	Lack of technology training
Instructor availability	Technological issues
Breakout rooms	Textbook training needed
Chat rooms	Platform training needed
Polling	Technological issues when submitting
Discussion boards	work
Understandable course content	Software not compatible with computer
Various ways to learn through technology	Lack of professor feedback
Easy to communicate through technology	

Table 4

Elements that enhance learning and participation in the hybrid classroom.	Elements that detract from learning and participation in the hybrid classroom.
Easy to participate without	Procrastination
pressure	Material is self-taught
Technology helped with	Self-motivation
organization	Difficult to participate if without variety
Work independently	Lack of hybrid class experience
Flexibility	Difficult to build a relationship with professor
Staggered due date for	Difficult to build relationship with classmates
assignments	Difficult platform to ask questions
Unlimited access to videos and	Lack of in-person office hours
PowerPoints	Repetitive or monotonous assignments
	Lower comfort level in hybrid class
	Feeling detached from professor / classmates
	Feeling isolated

Codes from Value Coding

The next step to my data analysis plan was to find codes in common form the descriptive code and values code analysis. This step allowed me to synchronize the codes from my descriptive code and values code analysis. Table 5 contains the codes that the descriptive code analysis and values code analysis have in common.

Table 5

Elements that enhance achievement and	Elements that detract from achievement
participation in the hybrid classroom.	and participation in the hybrid classroom.
Helpful elements of technology	Isolation
Flexibility	Lack of involvement from the professor
Unlimited access to course materials	Lack of training
Variety of ways to learn course content	Difficult to connect to professor /
Independent work	classmates

Codes Combining Values Coding and Descriptive Coding

The next step I used in analyzing the data from the participant interviews was to deductively analyze the same codes, categories, and patterns to see if and how they might fit into key predetermined themes residing in the literature and my research question. There were themes that were used to initially help me organize the development of categories and potential patterns from the data, such as attention, motivation, and opportunities to participate. With themes, initial codes, categories, and patterns in mind, there were additional literature-related and theory-related ideas (ex: intrinsic cognitive load, extrinsic cognitive load, germane cognitive load, collaboration, technology, instructional design, classroom community, interactive, and cognitive overload) that were used to reexamine my original analysis. Table 6 includes literature-related and theoryrelated analysis of the data.

Figure 3

Literature-related data analysis	Theory-related data analysis
Collaboration-Difficult to collaborate with the	Intrinsic cognitive load- A high intrinsic cognitive
professor and classmates in hybrid classes	load is needed to achieve academic goals in hybrid
Technology- The technology used in the hybrid	classes because there is a lot of independent work
classroom detracted from achievement and	and responsibility
participation in the following ways: technological	Extrinsic cognitive load. The following elements
difficulties feeling distanced and disconnected	contribute to a high level of extrinsic cognitive
from the professor and classmates. The technology	load in hybrid classes: technical difficulties (Table
used in the hybrid classroom helped achievement	continues on the next name
and participation in the following ways: unlimited	software / computer incompatibility feeling
access to videos and PowerPoints the use of	disconnected with peers and the professor
technological tools (nolling_chat rooms) during	Extrinsic cognitive load is lowered in hybrid
in-nerson sessions	classes with the following elements: unlimited
Instructional design. The use of engaging	access to course content (power points and
discussion board activities instructor created	videos) in-person office hours use of
videos, and in-person office hours helped	technological tools during in-person session (chat.
achievement and participation. The lack of in-	polls breakout rooms)
person office hours, lack of accountability, and	Germane cognitive load- Germane cognitive load
repetitive discussion board assignments detracted	is increased in hybrid classes with the following
from achievement and participation.	elements: instructor made videos, engaging
Classroom community- The hybrid class format	discussion board assignments, unlimited access to
detracted from achievement and participation due	course materials.
to the feeling of isolation and detachment from	Cognitive overload- The following elements in the
classmates and the professor.	hybrid classroom contributed to cognitive
Interactive- The feelings of isolation and	overload: technological issues, lack of connection
detachment detracted from achievement and	to the professor and classmates, lack of professor
participation.	feedback, repetitive discussion board assignments,
	and the lack of in-person office hours. The
	following elements in the hybrid classroom
	lowered cognitive overload: In-person office
	hours, the use of technological tool (polling,
	chatroom) during in-person sessions, unique
	discussion board assignments, unlimited access to
	videos and PowerPoints, the ability to work
	independently, and flexibility with due dates.

Literature Related and Theory Related Analysis of the Data

The final step in data analysis was keeping the data organized in a self-created

Excel spreadsheet. The Excel spreadsheet is securely stored in my password protected person laptop. The data do not include any participant identifying information.
Results

The results from the data using the interview transcripts are presented below

according to the participant's answers and according to the research question. Table 7

presents the preliminary codes and the final codes from the interview questions pertaining

to the elements in hybrid classes that help academic achievement and participation.

Table 6

Coding from Interview Questions

Preliminary codes	Final codes
Lack of motivation, lack of connection with the professor and classmates, procrastination, technological errors, lack of feedback from the instructor, repetitive assignments, lack of course training.	Elements in the hybrid classroom that hinder academic achievement and participation.
Flexibility, unlimited access to the course materials, the ability to work independently, useful technological tools.	Elements in the hybrid classroom that help academic achievement and participation.

Every participant expressed at least one of the elements listed in Table 1 as an element in their hybrid classes that either hindered or helped academic achievement and participation. The final codes listed in Table 7 are discussed in Chapter 5 as they relate to the research question for this study. The research question for this study was the following: What are community college students' perceptions of hybrid class elements that affect their academic achievement? The codes related to the research question for this study are presented in Table 8.

Table 7

Codes Related to the Research Question

Research question	Code
Community college students' perceptions	Instructor involvement
of hybrid class elements that affect their	Activities / assignments
participation.	Technology
	Student motivation
	Student preparation and training

I discovered through participant interviews that the technology used in the hybrid classroom can hinder and can also help academic achievement and participation. The technology used in the hybrid classroom hinders academic achievement and participation when it does not function as it should. The technology used in the hybrid classroom helps academic achievement and participation when the technological tools are used during the in-person class sessions. Participant 8 said,

The instructor used polling and the chat rooms during the Zoom meeting sessions and that helped me to learn the content. The polling forced me to pay attention during the class session and the chat room allowed me to ask questions and have my questions answered in real-time.

Participants 1 and 3 echoed this sentiment.

I also discovered that students did not feel adequately trained to begin taking classes in the hybrid format, and this lack of preparation hindered their academic achievement and participation. Participant 2 stated,

I did not feel prepared at all to take my hybrid classes. I did not know how to access my classes, participate in the discussion board assignments and the inperson sessions. I also had no idea how to submit my work to my professor. There needs to be training offered to the students who are going to take hybrid classes. Participants 6, 7, and 8 echoed this sentiment.

Evidence of Trustworthiness

The dependability, credibility, transferability, and confirmability implementation process were conducted as specified in Chapter 3 of this dissertation. No adjustments were needed. The evidence of trustworthiness was presented in this study.

As I collected data, I kept a journal of my thoughts to provide transparency and to avoid researcher bias. I also took copious notes during the interviews to notate any observation that I made, such as body language of the participants or voice intonations of the participants. I described the process I used to code the data and followed that process to ensure the validity of my conclusions.

Summary

In Chapter 4, I presented the results of this study, detailed the setting of the study, the participant selection strategy used to conduct this study, and the data collection process. I also summarized participants' responses that address the research question. The data analysis presented in this chapter demonstrates the trustworthiness of this study. The final codes from the data were elements in the hybrid classroom that hinder academic achievement and participation and elements in the hybrid classroom that help academic achievement and participation. Therefore, the final codes from the research question were technology, instructor involvement, activities / assignments, student preparation / training, and motivation. The final chapter of this dissertation, Chapter 5, includes a

discussion, conclusions, and recommendations based on an interpretation of the results presented in this chapter. Chapter 5 also presents the limitations of this study and implications for positive social change. Chapter 5: Discussion, Conclusions, and Recommendations

The hybrid class environment used in this study is designed to offer community college students an alternative format to complete course requirements, complete their degree program, and ultimately achieve their academic goals. The data collected supported the problem and the purpose of this study. Below, I present the findings and recommendations to the research question from the participants' perspective regarding hybrid class elements that affect their academic achievement as they relate to the final codes for the research question.

Interpretation of the Findings

The research question was as follows: What are community college students' perceptions of hybrid class elements that affect their academic achievement? The community college students' perceptions of hybrid class elements that affect their academic achievement are categorized in two ways based on the data collected. The two categories are elements that hinder and elements that help community college students' academic achievement. I will discuss both aspects below by breaking the categories into four themes: (a) instructor involvement; (b) activities/assignments; (c) technology; and (d) student motivation/student preparation and training.

Elements of Hybrid Class that Hinder Students' Academic Achievement Instructor Involvement

The lack of instructor involvement is an element in the hybrid class that hinders community college students' academic achievement. The participants of the study perceived that there is a lack of instructor involvement in the hybrid class various ways. First, the instructor does not give feedback on submitted work at all or there is not immediate feedback on submitted work. For example, Participants 1 said,

When I do not receive feedback from my professor or if the professor is slow at giving me feedback on my work, I am lost, and I do not know if I am on the right track to continue completing and submitting work.

Participants 3, 4, and 5 echoed this sentiment. Second, there is a lack of in-person office hours with the professor. The lack of in-person office hours affects community college academic achievement because there is often a delay in having a question answered when a student is not able to have the question answered in person, if email communication is used instead. Participant 7 stated,

In one of my hybrid classes, the professor did not answer my email communication at all and that made it difficult for me to complete my work. I had to guess half of the time what he expected out of me.

Also, students may be too timid to ask questions during the in-person session or there may not be time to ask questions during the in-person session. Participant 2 said,

I was too shy to ask questions during the in-person class sessions because it was not easy. I would rather go in person to ask my specific questions. For example, if I had a question about assignment #4, I did not want to hold up my notebook during the in-person class session just to ask my question. I felt the professor would not be able to see my notes anyway.

Participants 5 and 6 echoed this sentiment. Third, there is the use of videos and PowerPoint presentations that are not instructor made, but from an outside source. The participants perceived that they did not get to know that professor in a hybrid class format. They perceived that the instructor was involved in the class, and they perceived that the instructor was teaching them if they used instructor made videos and PowerPoint presentations as opposed to videos and PowerPoint presentations from an outside source. Participant 6 said,

I learn so much more and I feel connected to the class when the professor made her own videos instead of using YouTube videos. I feel like the teacher is actually teaching us with her videos. I can always watch the YouTube videos on my own time, outside of class.

Participant 8 said, "When my professor uses PowerPoint presentation that came from the textbook publisher, he was not involved in our learning."

Assignments/Activities

The participants perceived that activities and assignments in the hybrid classroom can hinder their academic achievement if the assignments are repetitive and if there is the same due date each week for the assignments and activities. Participant 1 stated,

It was difficult to complete all of the work each week by the same due date. The weeks that the professor staggered the due date for the work helped a lot. I achieved better grades when I had options when I could submit my work. Life happens and the same due date each week hindered me from getting all of my work done.

Participant 3 echoed this sentiment.

Technology

Every participant perceived the technology used in the hybrid classroom as hindering their academic achievement when it did not function properly and when the software is not compatible with their computer. There were instances in every participant's experience in the hybrid classroom when they were not able to log into the classroom or participate in the in-person class sessions due to technical difficulties. Participant 8 said, "There were many times when my professor was not able to sign on for your in-person session, so he just canceled class. That hindered my learning a lot." Participant 1 said, "I had to get a new laptop because the software we used in my anatomy hybrid class was not compatible with my old laptop. That definitely hindered my achievement."

Student Motivation/Student Participation

Every participant expressed that a lack of motivation hindered their academic achievement in hybrid classes. Based on their experiences, hybrid classes made them feel disconnected from the class, isolated, and that decreased their motivation. All participants perceived a feeling of disconnection from their peers and their professor in their hybrid classes. Participant 6 said,

You have to really be motivated to achieve your academic goals in hybrid classes. You have to remember to sign in to do the work, actually do the work, and submit it by the due date. This requires motivation and independent work to succeed.

The participants expressed that a lack of preparation and training for their hybrid classes hindered their academic success. Based on their experiences, the participants perceived that they were not prepared for their hybrid classes, and they expressed a need for training at the beginning of the semester. Participant 4 said,

I was not sufficiently prepared to participate in my hybrid classes and that hindered my academic achievement. I did not know how to access the course or the course materials. I also did not know how to find my assignments or how to submit my work. Training is definitely needed to resolve this issue.

Participant 6 echoed this sentiment.

Elements of the Hybrid Class That Help Students' Academic Achievement

Instructor Involvement

Based on the participant's perceptions and experiences, instructor involvement is an element of the hybrid class that can help community college students' academic achievement in various ways. First, it is important that the instructor offers in-person office hours. The participants perceived that instructor in-person office hours helped their academic achievement because they were able to ask questions and have their questions answered in real-time. The participants also perceived that in-person office hours helped student academic achievement in the hybrid class because they were able to connect to the instructor as a person, as opposed to a stranger on the screen. Participant 1 said,

When I was able to see my professor during her office hours, she didn't feel like a stranger anymore. I was more motivated to do my work once I met her and I was able to have my questions answered right away. I didn't have to wait for her to respond to my email I also felt as though she cared about the class once I met her.

Second, the use of instructor created videos and PowerPoint presentations is important. The participants perceived the use of instructor created videos and PowerPoint presentations in their hybrid classes as helpful to their academic achievement because they experienced a connection to the instructor, and they perceived that the instructor was involved in the class. The participants perceived that they learned more when instructor created videos and PowerPoint presentations were used. Participant 5 said,

When the instructor did not create videos or PowerPoint presentations, I did not feel that she was teaching the class. I saw that as a disconnect because I can watch YouTube videos on my own. I don't have to pay for a class to watch YouTube videos. When the instructor for my hybrid classes posted videos that he created, I learned more, and I felt like he was teaching us.

Participant 7 echoed this sentiment. Third, the use of technological tools during the inperson class sessions, such as polling, chat rooms, and breakout rooms is important.

Assignments/Activities

Each participant perceived assignment and activities used in their hybrid classes that were original and nonrepetitive as helpful to their academic achievement. For example, not having the same type of discussion board assignment each week or not having the same writing assignment each week helped their academic achievement. Participant 2 said,

If I had to complete the same type of assignments each week in my hybrid class, I was not motivated to complete them. I only did them because I had to. I did not

learn a lot from repetitive assignments. I have to have a variety to keep me learning and motivated.

Participant 5 echoed this sentiment.

Technology

Every participant perceived properly functioning technology used in their hybrid classes as helpful to their academic achievement. The aspects of the technology used in the hybrid class the participants perceived as helpful to their academic achievement were the tools used during the in-person class sessions, such as chat rooms, breakout rooms and polling (the professor asked a question in real time that the students must answer in a poll). Participant 8 said,

It was really helpful when my professor used polling and breakout rooms during the in-person class sessions. I had to pay attention to be able to answer the poll question and I was held accountable for the work that was done in the breakout rooms.

Participant 2 and 4 perceived the use of chat rooms as helpful to get their questions answered in real-time.

Student Motivation/Student Preparation

Every participant perceived that there were elements in the hybrid classroom that increased their motivation, which helped their academic achievement. The motivational elements in the hybrid classroom that the participants experienced that they perceived as helpful to their academic achievement are instructor involvement (feedback, the use of instructor made videos and PowerPoint presentations, and in-person office hours), unique assignments, and functioning technology.

Every participant perceived that preparation and training for their hybrid classes were helpful to their academic achievement. Once the students were knowledgeable in the dynamics of the hybrid classes (how to access their online sessions, where to find their assignments, how to submit their work), they were able to function in the class, helping their academic achievement. Participant 2 said, "I had no idea where to submit my work. Once I learned that process, I was more successful in the class." Participant 4 echoed this sentiment.

Limitations of the Study

One limitation of this study was the scope of the participants from one community college. This study included participants from one community college located in southeastern North Carolina. This limitation granted me as a researcher access to data from only one higher education institution.

Another limitation of this study was transferability to other settings. The community college where the data were collected is in a rural area of North Carolina, which may affect internet access for the participants and access to other technology used in hybrid classes. In some cases, internet access is limited in rural areas.

Another limitation of this study is the participants may not represent the general population of students. I visited four classes at the community college where this study was conducted, and my participants were chosen from those four classes. Seven out of

the eight participants were female, and the participants were all first and second year college students.

Conducting interviews via Zoom was also a limitation of this study. Although all of the participants were comfortable completing the interview through Zoom, they may have presented themselves differently than they would have if the interviews were conducted in a face-to-face format. For example, it may not be possible to see all of the participant's body language though a ZOOM meeting.

Recommendations

For future research, I recommend expanding the scope of the study to include participants at the university level. Expanding the scope of the study to include participants at the university level may allow the researcher to gain a deeper understanding of the students' perspective of the elements in the hybrid classes that affect academic achievement in the hybrid class. It may add useful information to interview junior and senior college students, as they may have a different perspective on hybrid classes with more experience.

Based on the findings and results of this study, I recommend that that instructors of hybrid classes implement the findings of this study into their hybrid classes, particularly the findings related to instructor presence in the hybrid class. Instructor presence in the hybrid class include in-person office hours, using technological tools during in-person session, using unique weekly assignments, and providing timely feedback to students. I recommend that community college administrators offer training for students and faculty prior to the start date of classes for those teaching and taking hybrid classes.

Implications for Social Change

This study promotes positive social change by providing data for community college faculty, administrators, and course designers to enable them to create future community college hybrid classes that are engaging and conducive to learning. Based on the literature presented in previous chapters, hybrid classes are an important part of higher education, and they will be for the foreseeable future. Based on this reason and based on the results of this study, community colleges need to prioritize improving hybrid classes, focusing on the technology used in the hybrid classroom, teacher presence, and providing faculty and study training for future hybrid classes.

Conclusion

The conceptual framework, the theoretical foundation, were aligned with the research question, purpose, and the problem statement of this study. The research problem was the gap in the research on community college students' perceptions of hybrid class elements that affect their academic achievement. My study presented significant data to improve hybrid classes at community colleges. Previous research on hybrid classes discussed in the literature review did not focus on the student's perspective on elements in the hybrid class that affected their academic achievement. Hence, this study was necessary to begin to understand the student's perspective about their experiences in the hybrid class.

References

Anderson, M. (2016). "High expectations" Discourse as an epistemology of oppression: Implications for urban education. *Philosophical Studies in Education*, 47, 46-55. <u>https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1113074</u>

Astin, A. W. (1985). Student involvement: A developmental theory for higher education. Journal of College Student Personnel, 25, 297–308. <u>http://chawkinson.pbworks.com/w/file/fetch/122997693/Student_Involvement_A</u> <u>Development_Theory_for_Highe.pdf</u>

- Baldassarri, S., Hupont, I., Abadía, D., & Cerezo, E. (2015). Affective-aware tutoring platform for interactive digital television. *Multimedia Tools and Applications*, 74, 3183–3206. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11042-013-1779-z</u>
- Bekkering, E., & Ward, T. (2020). Class participation and student performance: A tale of two courses. *Information Systems Education Journal*, 18(6), 86–98. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1258148.pdf</u>
- Bird, K. A., Castleman, B. L., & Lohner, G. (2022). Negative impacts from the shift to online learning during the COVID-19 crisis: Evidence from a statewide community college system. *AERA Open*, *8*, 23328584221081220.
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/23328584221081220</u>

Blayney, P., Kalyuga, S., & Sweller, J. (2015). Using cognitive load theory to tailor instruction to levels of accounting students' expertise. *Journal of Educational Technology & Society*, 18(4), 199-210.

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/286946045

Brainard, R., & Watson, L. (2020). Zoom in the classroom: Transforming traditional teaching to incorporate real-time distance learning in a face-to-face graduate physiology course. *The FASEB Journal*, 34(S1), 1–1. <u>https://doi.org/10.1096/fasebj.2020.34.s1.08665</u>

Buzdar, M. A., Mohsin, M. N., Akbar, R., & Mohammad, N. (2017). Students' academic performance and its relationship with their intrinsic and extrinsic motivation. *Journal of Educational Research*, 20(1), 74–82.
https://www.proquest.com/docview/1924243389?

- Caelli, K., Ray, L., & Mill, J. (2003). 'Clear as mud': Toward greater clarity in generic qualitative research. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 2(2), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1177/160940690300200201
- Chakraborty, M., & Nafukho, F. M. (2014). Strengthening student engagement: What do students want in online courses. *European Journal of Training and Development*, 38(9), 782-802. <u>https://doi.org/10.1108/ejtd-11-2013-0123</u>
- Chen, C., Pedersen, S., & Murphy, K. L. (2012). The influence of perceived information overload on student participation and knowledge construction in computermediated communication. *Instructional Science*, 40(2), 325–349. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11251-011-9179-0</u>
- Chen, O., Retnowati, E., & Kalyuga, S. (2020). Element interactivity as a factor influencing the effectiveness of worked example–problem solving and problem solving–worked example sequences. *British Journal of Educational Psychology*, 90, 210–223. https://doi.org/10.1111/bjep.12317

- Chisum, M. (2020). Student and instructor perspectives of ITV instruction. American Journal of Distance Education, 34(3), 224–240. https://doi.org/10.1080/08923647.2019.1704205
- Clark, R., Nguyen, F., & Sweller, J. (2006). *Efficiency in learning: Evidence-based guidelines to manage cognitive load*. Pfeiffer.

https://doi.org/10.1002/pfi.4930450920

- Collaçe, C. M. (2017). Increasing student engagement in higher education. *Journal of Higher Education Theory and Practice, 17*(4), 40–47. <u>https://www.proquest.com/docview/1949477484? pq-</u> origsite=gscholar&fromopenview=true
- Costley, J., & Lange, C. (2017). The mediating effects of germane cognitive load on the relationship between instructional design and students' future behavioral intention: EJEL. *Electronic Journal of E-Learning*, *15*(2), 174–187. https://eric.ed.gov/?q=cognitive+load&pg=18&id=EJ1141882
- Costley, J., & Lange, C. (2018). The moderating effects of group work on the relationship between motivation and cognitive load. *International Review of Research in Open* & *Distance Learning*, 19(1), 68-90. https://doi.org/10.19173/irrodl.v19i1.3325
- Crawford, C., & Persaud, C. (2013). Community colleges online. *Journal of College Teaching & Learning (Online), 10*(1), 75. https://doi.org/10.19030/tlc.v10i1.7534
- Curum, B., & Khedo, K. K. (2021). Cognitive load management in mobile learning systems: Principles and theories. *Journal of Computers in Education*, 8(1), 109-136<u>. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40692-020-00173-6</u>

- Dada, E. G., Alkali, A. H., & Oyewola, D. O. (2019). An investigation into the effectiveness of asynchronous and synchronous E-learning mode on students' academic performance in national open university (NOUN), Maiduguri Centre. *International Journal of Modern Education and Computer Science, 10*(5), 54. doi:10.5815/ijmecs.2019.05.06. https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Emmanuel-Dada/publication/332909140
- Dempsey, K. B., Dempsey, C. W., & Boyles, C. A. (2021). Factors affecting interactive television course satisfaction. *American Journal of Distance Education*, 35(3), 246-255. doi: http://dx.doi.org/10.1080/08923647.2021.1928433
- Dousay, T. A. (2016). Effects of redundancy and modality on the situational interest of adult learners in multimedia learning. *Educational Technology, Research and Development*, 64(6), 1251-1271. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11423-016-9456-3
- Elliott, V. (2018). Thinking about the coding process in qualitative data analysis. *The Qualitative Report, 23*(11), 2850–2861.

https://www.proquest.com/openview/bd8668bc7af5c395f8c00171f50100a7/1?pqorigsite=gscholar&cbl=55152&casa-

token=OT31uF1yhbYAAAA:ggvlkm61hjf9cW4PbQ-

Q25nRyVdY8StYYi65mxdvoCU22Az1Ce7Njxz8yTrv5iOnrzZ7g7dtn4

Feldon, D. F., Callan, G., Juth, S., & Jeong, S. (2019). Cognitive load as motivational cost. *Educational Psychology Review*, 31(2), 319–337. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10648-019-09464-6

Fredrickson, J. (2015). Online learning and student engagement: assessing the impact of a

collaborative writing requirement. *Academy of Educational Leadership Journal*, 19(3), 127–140. <u>https://www.proquest.com/openview/8349c82e5967c45573954604102b7483/1?p</u> <u>q-origsite=gscholar&cbl=38741&casa_token=</u> <u>BNPiY9sHs00AAAAA:WERQaaBSUZaJQIp8F4MnM1GXXCHE8d-</u> ox5qEJf7RK4IbtDmj1-aQBNMZnqKCMR8BPLAT43rkNXw

- Fusch, P. I., & Ness, L. R. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 20(9), 1408. <u>https://doi.org/10.46743/2160-3715/2015.2281</u>
- Gagnon, K., Young, B., Bachman, T., Longbottom, T., Severin, R., & Walker, M. J.
 (2020). Doctor of physical therapy education in a hybrid learning environment: reimagining the possibilities and navigating a "new normal." *Physical Therapy*, *100*(8), 1268-1277. https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32424417
- Garrett, C. (2011). Defining, detecting, and promoting student engagement in college learning environments. *Transformative Dialogues: Teaching & Learning Journal*, 5(2). https://td.journals.psu.edu/td/article/view/1339/795.
- Greenberg, K., Zheng, R., Gardner, M., & Orr, M. (2021). Individual differences in visuospatial working memory capacity influence the modality effect. *Journal of Computer Assisted Learning*, 37(3), 735–744. https://doi.org/10.1111/jcal.12519
- Hussain, M., Zhu, W., Zhang, W., & Syed Muhammad, R. A. (2018). Student engagement predictions in an e-learning system and their impact on student course assessment scores. *Computational Intelligence and Neuroscience: CIN*,

2018, 21. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/6347186

Irani-Kermani, R., Chen, D., Wolfskill, L. A., Nair, S. S., & Bullion, A. N. (2021). Students' perceptions in a hybrid learning model during the 2020 Covid-19 pandemic. *NACTA Journal*, 65.

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/352415029

- Jansa, J. M., & Ringsmuth, E. M. (2022). The impact of course structure on students' political efficacy and confidence-in-knowledge in introduction to American government. *Journal of Political Science Education*, 18(4), 455-475. <u>https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/15512169.2022.2097916</u>
- Kahlke, R. M. (2014). Generic qualitative approaches: Pitfalls and benefits of methodological mixology. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, 13(1), 37-52. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/160940691401300119</u>
- Kalyuga, S., & Liu, T. (2015). Managing cognitive load in technology-based learning environments. *Journal of Educational Technology & Society*, 18(4), 1–8. http://www.iiisci.org/Journal/pdv/sci/pdfs/XE225KW.pdf
- Kayalar, M. T. (2021). Perspectives of university students on the efficiency of synchronous and asynchronous learning. *Journal of Educational Leadership and Policy Studies*. https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1308493.pdf

Klepsch, M., & Seufert, T. (2020). Understanding instructional design effects by differentiated measurement of intrinsic, extraneous, and germane cognitive load. *Instructional Science*, 48(1), 45–77. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11251-020-09502-9</u>

Korobova, N., & Starobin, S. S. (2015). A comparative study of student engagement,

satisfaction, and academic success among international and American students.

Journal of International Students, 5(1), 72-85.

https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1052833.pdf

- Leahy, W., & Sweller, J. (2016). Cognitive load theory and the effects of transient information on the modality effect. *Instructional Science*, 44(1), 107–123. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11251-015-9362-9
- Lee, S., Baek, J., & Han, G. (2018). Effects of using a second-screen application on attention, learning, and user experience in an educational content. *Interactive Learning Environments*, 26(3), 289–307.

https://doi.org/10.1080/10494820.2017.1324494

- Li, X. (2016). Application of cognitive load theory in programming teaching. *Journal of Higher Education Theory and Practice*, *16*(6), 57–65<u>. http://www.nabusinesspress.com/JHETP/LiX_Web16_6_.pdf</u>
- Libby, L. A., Boyd, L. D., Perry, K. R., & Dominick, C. (2017). Assessing student satisfaction with face-to-face synchronous distance education in a dental hygiene program. Journal of Dental Education, *81*(3), 287–292.
 https://doi.org/10.1002/j.0022-0337.2017.81.3.tb06273.x

Lina, G., Qiao, Z., Xiaoyu, Z., & Li, L. (2020). Longitudinal relations between students' engagement and their perceived relationships with teachers and peers in a Chinese secondary school. *The Asia - Pacific Education Researcher*, 29(2), 171–181. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40299-019-00463-3

Lloyd, M. H., Kolodziej, N. J., & Brashears, K. M. (2016). Classroom discourse: An

essential component in building a classroom community. *School Community Journal*, 26(2), 291–30<u>4.</u> <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1124019.pdf#:~:text=As%20defined%20by%20</u> <u>Van%20de%20Walle%2C%20Karp%2C%20Lovin%2C,positive%20views%20of</u>

%20the%20class%20environment"%20%28p.%2013%29

Lovell-Johnston, M. (2019). Do "interactive" educational technologies promote interactive literacy instruction? *Language and Literacy*, *21*(3), 79–111. https://doi.org/10.20360/langandlit29448

Malinovski, T., Vasileva, M., Vasileva-Stojanovska, T., & Trajkovik, V. (2014).
 Considering high school students' experience in asynchronous and synchronous distance learning environments: QoE prediction model. *International Review of Research in Open and Distance Learning*, 15(4), 91–112.
 www.irrodl.org/index.php/irrodl/article/view/1808

- Maxwell, J. A. (2008). Designing a qualitative study. *The SAGE Handbook of Applied Social Research Methods*, 2, 214–253. (*PDF*) *Designing a Qualitative Study* (*researchgate.net*)
- Mayer, R. E., & Moreno, R. (2003). Nine ways to reduce cognitive load in multimedia learning. *Educational Psychologist*, 38(1), 43–52. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15326985EP3801_6
- McCall, M., Dunham, M., & Lyons, R. (2013). A comparison of student ratings in traditional and interactive television courses. *Educational Research Quarterly*, 37(2), 61–80. <u>https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1061923.pdf</u>

- McLaughlin, J. E., Griffin, L. M., Esserman, D. A., Davidson, C. E., Glatt, D. M., Roth,
 M. T., & Mumper, R. J. (2013). Pharmacy student engagement, performance, and
 perception in a flipped satellite classroom. *American Journal of Pharmaceutical Education*, 77(9), 196. https://doi.org/10.5688/ajpe779196
- Merriam, S. B. (2015). Qualitative research: Designing, implementing, and publishing a study. In V. Wang (Eds.), *Handbook of Research on Scholarly Publishing and Research Methods*, 125–140. IGI Global. Qualitative Research: A Guide to Design and Implementation, 4th Edition | Wiley
- Mohammadian, P., Boroon, P. R., Tang, S., Pakzad, M., & Gojgini, S. (2021). Success and retention of community college students in hybrid versus face-to-face anatomy courses. *Journal of STEM Education: Innovations & Research*, 22(1). https://jstem.org/jstem/index.php/JSTEM/article/view/2483/2198
- Myers, L. H., Jeffery, A. D., Nimmagadda, H., Werthman, J. A., & Jordan, K. (2015).
 Building a community of scholars: One cohort's experience in an online and distance education doctor of philosophy program. *Journal of Nursing Education*, 54(11), 650–654. https://journals.healio.com/doi/10.3928/01484834-20151016-07
- Ozkan, Z. A., & Boccio, D. (2022). A comparison of online asynchronous discussion technologies in hybrid algebra classes. *Community College Enterprise*, 28(1), 55-73. https://www.researchgate.net/publication/363885835
- Park, E., Martin, F., & Lambert, R. (2019). Examining predictive factors for student success in a hybrid learning course. *Quarterly Review of Distance Education*, 20(2), 11-27, 74. <u>https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1236986</u>

- Pavelea, A. M., & Moldovan, O. (2020). Why some fail and others succeed: Explaining the academic performance of PA undergraduate students. *Network of Institutes* and Schools of Public Administration in Central and Eastern Europe. the NISPAcee Journal of Public Administration and Policy, 13(1), 109–132. https://doi.org/10.2478/nispa-2020-0005
- Poffenbarger, H. (2017). Teaching tips based on cognitive load theory. *NACTA Journal*, 61(3), 262–263. <u>https://nactateachers.org/images/TeachingTips/Teaching_tips_based_on_Cognitiv</u>

e_Load_Theory.pdf

 Price, D., & Tovar, E. (2014). Student engagement and institutional graduation rates: Identifying high-impact educational practices for community colleges. *Community College Journal of Research and Practice*, 32(9), 766–78<u>2.</u>
 <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10668926.2012.719481</u>

- Queirós, A., Faria, D., & Almeida, F. (2017). Strengths and limitations of qualitative and quantitative research methods. *European Journal of Education Studies*, 3(9), 369-387. https://zenodo.org/record/887089
- Quweider, M. K., Qubbaj, A., Zhang, L., Khan, F., & Lei, H. (2019). A holistic approach for enhancing distributed education with multi-campus course delivery methods.
 In 2019 ASEE Annual Conference & Exposition. A Holistic Approach for Enhancing Distributed Education with Multi-Campus Course Delivery Methods (utrgv.edu)

Rey, G., & Fischer, A. (2013). The expertise reversal effect concerning instructional

explanations. Instructional Science, 41(2), 407-429.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s11251-012-9237-2

Saldaña, J., & Leavy, P. (Ed.). (2014). Coding and analysis strategies. In *The Oxford Handbook of Qualitative Research*.

https://doi.org/10.1093/oxfordhb/9780199811755.013.001

- Sarkar, N., Ford, W., & Manzo, C. (2020). To flip or not to flip: What the evidence suggests. *Journal of Education for Business*, 95(2), 81-87. https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1242767
- Schaddelee, M., & McConnell, C. (2018). Analyzing student perceptions to enhance engagement: An interdisciplinary, project-based learning program. *Journal of International Education in Business*, 11(2), 161-177.
 <u>https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/JIEB-09-2017-</u> 0034/full/html
- Serhan, D. (2020). Transitioning from face-to-face to remote learning: Students' attitudes and perceptions of using Zoom during COVID-19 pandemic. *International Journal of Technology in Education and Science*, 4(4), 335–342. <u>https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1271211</u>
- Shaheen, M., & Pradhan, S. (2019). Sampling in qualitative research. In *Qualitative techniques for workplace data analysis*, 25–51. IGI Global.
- Singh, J., Steele, K., & Singh, L. (2021). Combining the best of online and face-to-face learning: Hybrid and blended learning approach for COVID-19, post vaccine, & post-pandemic world. *Journal of Educational Technology Systems*, 50(2), 140-

171. https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/00472395211047865

Snow, W. H., & Coker, J. K. (2020). Distance counselor education: Past, present, future. *Professional Counselor*, 10(1), 40–56.

https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1251002.pdf

- Suarez-Orozoco, C., Singh, S., Darbes, T., & Abrica, E. (2016). Observing classroom engagement in community college: A systematic approach. *Education Evaluation* and Policy Analysis, 38(4), 757–782. https://doi.org/10.3102/0162373716675726
- Swecker, H. K., Fifolt, M., & Searby, L. (2013). Academic advising and first-generation college students: A quantitative study on student retention. *NACADA Journal*, 33(1), 46–53. <u>https://doi.org/10.12930/NACADA-13-192.</u>
- Sweller, J. (1988). Cognitive load during problem solving: Effects on learning. *Cognitive Science*, *12*(2), 257–285. https://doi.org/10.1016/0364-0213(88)90023-7
- Sweller, J. (2020). Cognitive load theory and educational technology. *Educational Technology Research & Development*, 68(1), 1–16.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s11423-019-09701-3

- Szeto, E. (2014). Bridging the students' and instructor's experiences: Exploring instructional potential of videoconference in multi-campus universities. *Turkish Online Journal of Educational Technology-TOJET*, *13*(1), 64–72. http://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1018175
- Thorne, S. (2016). *Interpretive description: Qualitative research for applied practice*. Taylor & Francis.

Thrasher, E., Coleman, P., & Willis, J. (2014). Blended course design for multi-campus

technology instruction: An expository study. *Journal of Instructional Pedagogies*, 15. http://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ1106763

- Turner, C., & Turner, K. D. (2017). The effects of educational delivery methods on knowledge retention. *Journal of Education for Business*, 92(5), 201–209. https://doi.org/10.1080/08832323.2017.1331989
- Updated National Survey of Student Engagement. (2013). Updated national survey of student engagement survey features new indicators of student engagement. US Fed News Service, Including US State News. Retrieved from https://nsse.indiana.edu/nsse/survey-instruments/nsse-2013-update.html

Vagle, M. D. (2014). Crafting phenomenological research. Left Coast Press.

- Van Rhijn, T. M., Lero, D. S., Bridge, K., & Fritz, V. A. (2016). Unmet needs:
 Challenges to success from the perspectives of mature university students.
 Canadian Journal for the Study of Adult Education, 28(1), 29.
 https://cjsae.library.dal.ca/index.php/cjsae/article/view/4704
- Wang, S., Griffiths, R., Christensen, C., D'Angelo, C., & Condon, K. (2022). An evaluation of a first-of-its-kind hybrid law degree program. *Journal of Computing in Higher Education*, 34(2), 517-544.

https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s12528-022-09308-3

Watts, L. (2016). Synchronous and asynchronous communication in distance learning: A review of the literature. *Quarterly Review of Distance Education*, 17(1), 23–32, 56<u>. https://www.proquest.com/docview/1794526758?pq-</u>

origsite=gscholar&fromopenview=true

Weidlich, J., & Bastiaens, T. J. (2018). Technology matters – The impact of transactional distance on satisfaction in online distance learning. *International Review of Research in Open and Distance Learning*, 19(3).

https://doi.org/10.19173/irrod1.v19i3.3417

Worthington, M. (2013). Differences between phenomenological research and a basic qualitative research design. *Microsoft Word - Differences between Phenomenological Research and a Basic Qualitative Research Design*.
 <u>http://a1149861.sites.myregisteredsite.com/DifferencesBetweenPhenomenological</u>
 <u>IResearchAndBasicQualitativeResearchDesign.pdf</u>

- Xu, K. M., Koorn, P., de Koning, B., Skuballa, I. T., Lin, L., Henderikx, M., Marsh, H.
 W., Sweller, J., & Paas, F. (2021). A growth mindset lowers perceived cognitive load and improves learning: Integrating motivation to cognitive load. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, *113*(6), 1177–1191. https://doi.org/10.1037/edu0000631
- Yang, X., Lin, L., Wen, Y., Pei-Yu, C., Yang, X., & An, Y. (2020). Time-compressed audio on attention, meditation, cognitive load, and learning. *Journal of Educational Technology & Society*, 23(3). https://www.jstor.org/stable/26926423
- Yates, A., Brindley-Richards, W., & Thistoll, T. (2014). Student engagement in distancebased vocational education. *Journal of Open, Flexible, and Distance Learning,* 18(2), 29-4<u>3.</u>

https://search.informit.org/doi/abs/10.3316/informit.195497153067486

Yousry, Y. M., & Azab, M. M. (2022). Hybrid versus distance learning environment for a paediatric dentistry course and its influence on students' satisfaction: A cross-

sectional study. BMC medical education, 22(1), 1-8.

https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/35513807

Appendix A: Interview Protocol

Participant ID: _____ Date: _____ Time: _____

Location: _____ Recording ID: _____

Interview Questions	Researcher Notes
Did you participate in your hybrid classes?	
Probe: How often and when did you	
participate in your hybrid classes?	
Please discuss how well you did in the	
hybrid classes you have taken. Probe: Did	
you achieve the same grades in all the	
hybrid classes you have taken, or did you	
achieve different grades?	
What did the instructor of your hybrid	
classes do that helped you to learn the	
course content? Probe: What type of class	
activities or discussion forums can the	
instructor use to help you learn the course	
content in hybrid classes?	
How did the technology used in your	
hybrid classes help or hinder you in	
learning the course content? Probe: In	
what ways did the technology used in your	
hybrid classes help you or hinder you in	
learning the course content?	
What aspects of your hybrid classes do	
you believe may have helped your	
participation? Probe: What aspects of your	
hybrid classes do you believe made it easy	
for you to participate?	
What did the instructor of your hybrid	
classes do to make your participation in	
the class easier? Probe: What type of class	
activities or discussion forums did the	
instructor use in your hybrid classes to	
maximize your participation?	

126

What aspects of your hybrid classes do	
you believe may have hindered your	
participation? Probe: What aspects of your	
hybrid classes do you believe made it	
difficult for you to participate?	
What did the instructor of your hybrid	
classes do to make your participation in	
the class difficult? Probe: What type of	
class activities or discussion forums did	
the instructor use in your hybrid classes	
that hindered your participation?	
How do you think the technology	
(platforms, programs, software, hardware,	
etc.) used in your hybrid classes helped or	
hindered your participation? Probe:	
Explain how the technology used in your	
hybrid class helped or hindered your	
participation in the class.	